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 Chairman’s Statement

Cautious Optimism 
in Overcoming 
Adversity
Dear Fellow Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of JLF Investment Company Limited 
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), I am 
pleased to present the Group’s Annual Report and financial results for the year ended 31 
December 2013.

ECONOMY OUTLOOK
It has been more than five years since 2008 worldwide financial crisis, and the world 
economy is starting to show signs of recovery in 2013. However, challenges still remain 
as Europe’s debt crisis persists and the US Federal Reserve’s unwinding of quantitative 
easing all bring along uncertainties to the global financial market. While there has been 
a shift in global economic power from the developed world to the developing world, 
China, being the economic driver in Asia, dangled by a shift in its fiscal policies, has led 
deceleration throughout the region. With the Chinese government’s calibration of the 
country’s economy from export and investment centric to domestic consumption, China 
is now under a course of economic rebalancing which may see better and healthier 
development in the future.

MARKET OVERVIEW
Deteriorating condition in China’s wine 
and baijiu markets exerted pressure on 
our performance for the year. As a result 
of changes in domestic consumption 
and China’s new administration’s policy 
to restrict ostentatious spending, sales 
of high-end wine and baijiu products 
experienced a downturn. Industry players 
and competitors were struggling to 
destock, resulting in pervasive discounts 
and intensifying price pressures. Combined 
with structural changes in the market – the 
growth of e-commerce and a more value-
conscious consumer base – the industry 
was fraught with difficulties.
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Chairman’s Statement

Nevertheless, the shift in the high-end 
luxurious wine and baijiu markets has 
created development opportunities for 
regional brands as well as medium to low 
price wine and baijiu products. Rapid 
modernisation and rising dispensable 
incomes in China have created growth 
momentum for better value wine and 
baijiu products. With the drinking habit 
shifting from business entertainment 
to personal leisure, and with greater 
awareness of health and safety concerns, 
the outlook for the industry, especially on 
wine and baijiu for daily consumption 
and those targeting provincial markets, 
rebounced with a rising trend.

In spi te of  this  backdrop, we have 
proceeded to mit igate the ongoing 
challenges of the current economic 
climate by realigning our product offerings 
to adapt to the shifts in the market and 
to exercise greater focus on promoting 
and enhancing our brand value, targeting 
our products for general consumption. 
By delivering a clear and simple product 
image to the market and enhancing the 
timeliness and efficiency of our supply 
chain, we are simultaneously improving 
productivity and performance to retain our 
competitive edge.

Our strong capacity for innovation 
and our prompt adaptation to changes 
continue to further differentiate us from 
our competitors and help us extend our 
leading position in the market. With the 
aim of standing out from our peers, we 
remain focused on our regional markets 
and strive to further enhance our brand 
equity to gain greater recognition and 
creditabil i ty for our brand and our 
products. During the year, we rolled out 
Shangri-la’s A series winery products and 
YuQuan’s Harmonious Elegant Series 
targeting mid to low price range. The 
launches of these affordable and good 
value-for-money products have impressed 
the mass consumption market. As a result 
of our strong product differentiation and 
effective pricing strategy, we have seen 
faster recovery in the first quarter of 2014.
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 Chairman’s Statement

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Faced with erratic macroeconomic challenges and a turbulent retail environment, the 
Group experienced its first operating loss since 2006. As a result of the decline in the 
Group’s sales of high-end products, gross turnover declined by 8.1% to HK$336.6 
million for the year ended 31 December 2013. Despite destocking and intense 
competition in the industry, we still managed to achieve solid performance during the 
year. Our comprehensive marketing measures have made good progress and are bearing 
fruit, which enabled us and our channel networks to minimise inventory risks and to 
enhance profitability. Our differentiated value-for-money products received an excellent 
response from the market which allowed us to record a gross profit of HK$163.9 million 
and a healthy gross profit margin of 48.7%. However, we made a one off provision of 
HK$54.2 million on Shangri-la’s inventories and an impairment of Shangri-la’s goodwill 
of HK$33.5 million for the year. The provision was made in accordance with the Group’s 
plan to offer discounts on certain products and the impairment was mainly a reflection of 
Shangri-la’s current year loss. After making such provision, we recorded an aggregate loss 
of HK$79.8 million for the year 2013 (2012: profit of HK$23.4 million). Loss attributable 
to owners amounted to HK$82.0 million (2012: profit of HK$9.8 million) and basic loss 
per share amounted to HK4.91 cents (2012: earnings per share of HK0.59 cent). Despite 
the unfavourable factors mentioned above, our financial position remains healthy with 
gearing ratio at a reasonable level. Should we exclude the effects of the provision and the 
impairment which are non-cash in nature, our operational and financial results would 
have been profitable.

YUQUAN BAIJIU OPERATION
Being the leading baijiu brand in Harbin and northeast China, YuQuan is unique in its 
brand features and distinctive positioning. The downturn in the general baijiu market did 
have a certain effect on YuQuan. Being a leading regional brand, YuQuan has a solid 
local foundation. After realigning our marketing strategy, we turned the situation into an 
opportunity for development. Though turnover of YuQuan for the period has declined 
by 15.2% to HK$145.9 million due to the decrease in high-end product sales, we still 
recorded a segment profit for baijiu of HK$11.6 million.

BAIJIU MARKETING
Over the years, the Group has maintained its focuses on brand promotion and 
consolidation of market share. The “YuQuan” brand has been well-embraced by 
consumers, especially its core products “YuQuan Harmonious Elegant Series (玉泉和諧
清雅系列)” and the “YuQuan Vintage Series (玉泉年份酒系列)”. YuQuan has developed 
into a premium proprietary brand and has earned the designations of “China’s famous 
brand” and “National Products of Geographical Indication”. As the leading enterprise in 
Heilongjiang’s baijiu industry, YuQuan has long maintained its good reputation over the 
past 60 years.
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2013, the Group spared no effort in marketing campaigns and achieved 
remarkable success. The culture of baijiu has taken up a unique position in 
Chinese culture. In a series of baijiu-cultural campaign, YuQuan again hosted 
“YuQuan • Harmony and Elegance-Li Yundi Piano Recital” at the Daqing Opera 
House on 23rd June 2013, stressing the perfect combination of arts and baijiu 
culture and to infuse the gene of culture to the philosophy of YuQuan. In the 
same month, YuQuan was appointed as the special cooperative partner of the 
24th China Harbin International Economic and Trade Fair for the 4th consecutive 
year since 2010. The partnership symbolises not just a marketing activity of our 
expansion strategy, but also a sense of social responsibility in supporting local 
economic development in Heilongjiang Province. YuQuan was also invited by the 
Harbin Commerce Bureau to participate in the 21st Guangzhou Fair from 23rd 
to 26th August 2013 as a representative of the province’s “China Time Honoured 
Brand”, further protruding our brand awareness and competitiveness.

SHANGRI-LA WINERY
Shangri-la Winery has experienced a difficult year under the adverse market 
condition which affected the overall business performance of the Group. Rising 
raw materials, labour, logistics and marketing costs resulted in higher operating 
and administrative expenses. These coupled with heavy destocking exercise 
by wine importers and local brands led to severe price competition. Though 
we were able to maintain turnover and gross profit at HK$190.6 million and 
HK$76.5 million respectively, after making provision for inventory and goodwill 
impairment, Shangri-la recorded a significant segment loss of HK$77.1 million 
(2012: loss of HK$7.7 million).

MARKETING FOR SHANGRI-LA WINERY
To combat China’s subdued wine market, we decided to streamline our product 
offerings and focus our resources to promote the mid-low price range Plateau 
A series and Dai Zang Mi (大藏秘) Tibetan barley series. By strengthening our 
product differentiation and optimising the flexibility and efficiency of our logistics, 
we helped our channel distributors minimise their inventory risks and improve 
their operational performance, which in turn regained their confidence in future 
ordering and replenishment.

Much effort has been spent in implementing marketing strategies to strengthen 
Shangri-la’s brand awareness, which in turn support long-term growth. To achieve 
our core objective of becoming a brand for the mass market and to adhere to our 
mission of giving back to society, Shangri-la Winery has combined its product 
promotion campaigns with charity events. Shangri-la Winery has organised a 
charitable traditional mid-autumn celebrating activity in Xiamen, the “Xiamen 
Community Charitable Moon-cake Contest” from 15th August to 30th September 
2013. All proceeds from the contest were donated to the Xiamen Children’s 
Welfare House. Furthermore, for each bottle of Shangri-la Platinum Dai Zang Mi 
(大藏秘) sold during the contest, Shangri-la Winery donated RMB3 to the Xiamen 
Children Welfare House.
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 Chairman’s Statement

PRODUCTS AND ACHIEVEMENT
Shangri-la Winery’s new products and branding strategies earned considerable 
recognition in the industry. We had participated in the International Wine Challenge at 
HOFEX 2013 held in Hong Kong in May 2013 and earned remarkable achievements. 
Shangri-la Plateau A2 Chardonnay obtained silver award in the cool climate selection 
and a bronze medal in the Chardonnay category. Shangri-la Plateau A3 won silver award 
in Chardonnay category. Shangri-la Plateau A5, A6, 1900 and 2700 each seized bronze 
awards in their respective categories and Dai Zang Mi (大藏秘) 9° Tibetan Dry grabbed 
the seal of approval. Apart from the above, Shangri-la Plateau A3 Cabernet Sauvignon was 
awarded the gold medal at the 7th Yantai International Wine Competition, and Plateau 
A3 Chardonnay was awarded the silver medal at the 2013 Vinalies Internationales China.

We also participated in the China Competition for Good Value International Wines 
from Famous Regions, which was co-organised by the China National Food Industry 
Association, Chinese Society for Horticultural Science, Vigobles Célèbres de France and 
Wines of South Africa in August 2013. The results were encouraging, with Shangri-la 
Plateau A8 and 2800 winning the premium award and special award respectively.

The numerous international awards achieved reflect the wide recognition of our products.  
With this in mind, our team will continue its efforts to bring out the best of Shangri-la in 
return for the market’s appreciation of our products.

ACQUISITIONS AND EXPANSION
Over the past few years, we have been proactive in looking for acquisition opportunities 
to expand our business with the aims to enrich our product offerings and to increase 
future sales and profitabilities. Facing the challenges in the market, we believe a multi-
brand strategy would be the best approach for achieving our future growth.

Our acquisition of YuQuan in 2008 is a good example that showcase the success of our 
acquisition strategy and in enhancing the Company’s business coverage. Through years of 
development, YuQuan has captured a distinct market position in northeast China, laying 
a solid foundation for our development in the baijiu industry.

In July 2013, the Company announced its intention to enter into an agreement for the 
proposed acquisition of a group of companies principally engaged in the sale and 
distribution of baijiu in China. The acquisition is in line with our strategical plan to develop 
our business through merger and acquisition, and is believed to be in the interests of the 
Company and the shareholders as a whole. Nevertheless, the structure and the terms of 
the acquisition are still being finalised and there is no guarantee that the acquisition will 
be materialised. In this regard, we shall make the requisite announcement(s) as soon as 
practicable.
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Chairman’s Statement

PROSPECTS
China’s biggest challenge is the facing of a wide range of economic reforms. It is 
through the implementation of such reforms where opportunities are unlocked. 
Following the restructuring of China’s economy, the improvement of the 
consumption structure, the advancement of urbanization and the development of 
e-commerce, China’s retail industry will continue its growth momentum, which 
all in all will help to improve domestic consumption sentiment, and market 
demand for retail products including wine and baijiu products.

China’s wine and baijiu industry is undergoing an in-depth transition. Despite 
the challenging market condition, we see the demand for mid-to-low-end and 
regional products on the rise. With the increasing general purchasing power of 
the Chinese and growing popularity of wine and baijiu culture, we believe that 
the business momentum of the wine and baijiu markets will eventually pick up 
and turnaround. To capture the opportunity, we will continue to implement retail-
oriented measures by providing good value products that fit market preferences.

We are cautiously optimistic about the long-term development of the market and 
intend to capture the opportunities that arise in line with the turnaround in the 
industry. We will be proactive in adjusting our marketing strategy in response 
to changes in customer demand, strengthen our efforts to manage profitability, 
diversify our product offerings, further expand our sales channel and enhance our 
production efficiency, all with the same purpose to consolidate and strengthen 
our market position and competitiveness.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express my 
sincere gratitude to our management and employees for their hard work 
and contributions during the year. In addition, I would like to thank all the 
shareholders and investors, business partners and customers for their continuous 
support. We remain cautiously confident that the Group will achieve further 
progress and create substantial value for our shareholders.

By Order of the Board

Wu Xiang Dong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2014
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and Equity
Analysis

(Unit HK$’000)
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62,795 (6.0%) 64,445 (6.3%)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Conform to 
Market Changes; 
Target General 
Consumption Market
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Turnover

As a result of the slowdown in the industry and the central government’s restriction 
on ostentatious spending, the Group recorded a decrease in gross turnover of 8.1% to 
HK$336.6 million for the year 2013 (2012: HK$366.2 million). Turnover of wine and 
baijiu segments dropped by 1.8% and 15.2% to HK$190.6 million (2012: HK$194.2 
million) and HK$145.9 million (2012: HK$172.0 million) respectively. The baijiu 
segment, which accounted for 43.4% of the Group’s total turnover, has experienced a 
sharp fall mainly due to the decline in the sales of high-end products. The wine segment, 
which accounted for 56.6% of total turnover, remained relatively stable as a result of 
enhanced marketing effort and improved product mix by focusing on middle to low-end 
wine for general consumption.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales for wine and baijiu segments decreased by 3.1% to HK$114.1 million 
(2012: HK$117.7 million) and 5.7% to HK$58.5 million (2012: HK$62.1 million) 
respectively. Gross production costs decreased by 4.0% to HK$172.6 million (2012: 
HK$179.8 million) as turnover declined. In terms of percentage of turnover, the cost of 
sales increased from 49.1% to 51.3% due to rising materials costs and manufacturing 
overheads.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased by 12.1% to HK$163.9 million (2012: HK$186.4 million). 
Wine and baijiu segments each accounted for HK$76.5 million and HK$87.4 million 
respectively. Gross profit margin of wine increased slightly by 0.7% to 40.1% (2012: 
39.4%) whereas baijiu reduced by 4.0% to 59.9% (2012: 63.9%) leading to a reduction 
in the Group’s gross profit margin by 2.2% to 48.7% (2012: 50.9%). The decrease was 
mainly due to the drop in gross profit margin of baijiu segment. 

The Group was able to uphold a reasonable gross profit amid a highly competitive 
operating environment.
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 Management Discussion and Analysis

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by 4.5% to 
HK$98.9 million (2012: HK$103.5 million). The decrease 
was mainly because of the drop in sales commission as 
turnover reduced. As the Group maintained the same level 
of marketing effort, selling and distribution expenses as a 
percentage of turnover for the year increased slightly by 
1.1% to 29.4% (2012: 28.3%).

Administrative Expenses

During the year, administrative expenses 
increased by 12.4% to HK$63.1 million (2012: 
HK$56.2 million). The increase was mainly due 
to the increase in staff and rental costs during the 
year. Administrative expenses as a percentage 
of turnover increased by 3.5% to 18.8% (2012: 
15.3%).

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses increased significantly 
as a result of the provision made for slow-moving 
inventories and the impairment of goodwill. As 
discounts were offered to the market in order 
to improve the turnover of inventories, certain 
winery products were written down, resulting in 
a provision amounted to HK$54.2 million (2012: 
Nil). Goodwill in relation to the wine business 
amounted to HK$33.5 million (2012: Nil) was 
then impaired.

Loss Before Tax

The combined effect of the decline in gross 
turnover and gross profit and the increase of 
operating expenses resulted in a loss before tax 
of HK$72.1 million (2012: profit before tax of 
HK$41.7 million).

Income Tax

The overall income tax was then reduced by 58.2% 
to HK$7.7 million (2012: HK$18.3 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Loss Attributable to Owners

Subsequently, loss attributable to owners of the Company was recorded at 
HK$82.0 million (2012: profit of HK$9.8 million).

Basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2013 was HK4.91 cents (2012: earnings of HK0.59 cent).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Cash and bank borrowings

We generally finance our operation and capital expenditure by internal generated 
cash flows as well as banking facilities provided by our principal bankers. As 
at 31 December 2013, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$141.6 
million (2012: HK$132.9 million), representing an increase of 6.6%.  The Group’s 
cash position has improved slightly over the year as a result of net cash inflow 
from operation. About 93.8% (2012: 83.7%) of our cash was denominated in 
Renminbi (“RMB”).

As at 31 December 2013, our total bank borrowings increased by 2.6% to 
HK$64.4 million (2012: HK$62.8 million). All of our bank borrowings are 
denominated in RMB. In view of the Group’s cash and bank balances, funds 
generated internally from our operation and the unutilized banking facilities 
available, we are confident that the Group will have sufficient resources to meet 
its debt commitment and working capital requirements in the foreseeable future.

Capital expenditure

During the year, our total capital expenditure amounted to HK$30.7 million 
(2012: HK$64.8 million) which was mainly used for the purchase of machineries 
and the construction of Shangri-la Masang Château. For the year 2014, we have 
budgeted HK$36.1 million for capital expenditure.

Inventories

Our inventories primarily consisted of finished goods, goods in transit, work in 
progress as well as raw materials. As a result of the provision for inventory, the 
Group’s inventory reduced by 18.2% to HK$246.3 million (2012: HK$301.2 
million). Finished goods turnover ratio (being average closing finished goods 
divided by cost of sales) was 199 days for the year ended 31 December 2013 
(2012: 227 days).
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Balance sheet analysis

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had total assets of 
HK$1,017.4 million (2012: HK$1,045.4 million) of which 
current assets amounted to HK$505.0 million (2012: 
HK$512.3 million) and non-current assets amounted to 
HK$512.4 million (2012: HK$533.1 million). Total 
liabilities of the Group included current liabilities 
of HK$232.1 million (2012: HK$260.6 million) 
and non-current liabilities of HK$87.2 million 
(2012: HK$22.1 million). Our total equity was 
composed of owners equity of HK$596.1 million 
(2012: HK$664.6 million) and non-controlling 
interests of HK$102.0 million (2012: HK$98.1 
million).

The Group’s current ratio as at 31 December 2013 
was 2.2 (2012: 2.0). Gearing ratio, representing 
total borrowings divided by total equity, was 
9.2% (2012: 8.2%). Both ratios are at healthy 
level indicating that the Group is able to meet its 
short-term and long-term debts.

Trade receivables turnover (being average trade 
receivables divided by turnover) was 20 days 
(2012: 29 days). The Group did not experience 
any material bad debts that required to be written 
off in 2013.

The Group had capital commitments amounted 
to HK$55.2 million (2012: HK$60.4 million). 
The Group had no material contingent liabilities 
as at 31 December 2013.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
During the year ended 31 December 2013, save 
as the related parties transactions as disclosed in 
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, 
the major suppliers and customers of the Group 
are as follows:

The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted 
for 39.2% (2012: 27.2%) of the Group’s total 
purchases and the purchases attributable to the 
Group’s largest supplier was 14.9% (2012: 9.0%).

The Group’s five largest customers accounted 
for 32.9% (2012: 40.0%) of the Group’s total 
turnover and the sales attributable to the Group’s 
largest customer was 7.6% (2012: 10.0%).
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS (Continued)

None of the directors, their associates or shareholders of the Company which, 
to the knowledge of the directors of the Company, owned more than 5% of the 
Company’s issued share capital had any beneficial interest in the five largest 
suppliers or customers of the Group.

GOVERNMENT SUBSIDIES
During the year, the Group has been granted an aggregate amount of HK$14.2 
million (2012: HK$16.8 million) from the respective local finance department in 
subsidising the Group’s technical development.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 
31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At 31 December 2013, the Group pledged its land, property, plant and equipments 
with net book value amounted to HK$44.6 million (2012: HK$48.3 million) to 
secure general banking facilities granted.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE RATES
As most of the Group’s revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are denominated 
in RMB, there is natural hedge mechanism in place and currency risk exposure 
is relatively low. As such, no material exchange rate risk is anticipated and no 
financial instruments for hedging purposes are employed.

The slow and moderate appreciation of the RMB against the United States 
dollar has a positive but negligible impact on the Group. To enhance overall risk 
management for its expansion, the Group has already strengthened its treasury 
management capability and will closely monitor its currency and interest rate 
exposures.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
During the year, there was no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries or 
associated companies by the Group.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION AND EMOLUMENT POLICY
As at 31 December 2013, the Group employed a total of 1,057 (2012: 1,145) full-
time employees mostly at the Group’s factories and sales offices, in which 307 staff 
related to sales and marketing, 471 staff related to production, 108 staff related 
to management and 171 staff related to administration. The Group’s emolument 
policies are formulated based on the performance of individual employees and 
are reviewed annually. The Group also provides medical insurance coverage and 
provident fund schemes (as the case may be) to its employees in compliance with 
the applicable laws and regulation. 
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WU XIANG DONG
Chairman and Executive Director

Mr. Wu Xiang Dong, aged 45, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 25 February 2004 and 
became the chairman of the Company on 3 October 2007. He is the chairman of the nomination committee of 
the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company (the 
“Remuneration Committee”). He is also a director of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Wu is the founder of ‘Jin 
Liu Fu’ brand, VATS Group Limited (“VATS Group”, formerly known as ‘Jin Liu Fu Group’), which is the ultimate 
holding company of the Company and VATS Chain Liquor Store Management Company Limited. He is currently the 
chairman of VATS Group and VATS Chain Liquor Store Management Company Limited. He has extensive experience 
in the management of large enterprises, especially in wine and baijiu business in China. Mr. Wu holds 90% equity 
interests in VATS Group, which is the substantial shareholder of the Company through its indirect shareholdings of 
JLF Investment Company Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

Mr. Wu is a member of the 12th National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and 
the vice-chairman of the Hunan Federation of Industry and Commerce. He is a well-known entrepreneur in  
China’s wine and baijiu industry and has been awarded the most prestigious sales and marketing awards in China: 
‘Golden Censer II Award’, ‘2009 Ernst and Young’s Entrepreneur of The Year China Award’, ‘2005 Decoration of 
World Outstanding Chinese Award’, ‘Top 10 Outstanding Entrepreneur of Chinese Brand Implementation’, ‘Top 10 
Outstanding CEO’, ‘China’s Creditable Entrepreneur’, ‘Asia Top 10 Worthies in Brand Innovation’, ‘Top 10 Brand 
Leadership in Chinese Liquor Industry’, ‘Top 10 Distribution Channel Leaders in Chinese Liquor Industry’, ‘the Most 
Influential Entrepreneurs in New China for 60 years’ and ‘the 2nd Outstanding Entrepreneur of Hunan Province’.

YAN TAO
Vice-Chairman and Executive Director

Mr. Yan Tao, aged 50, was appointed as an executive director and the vice-chairman of the Company on 27 April 
2009. He is a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. He is also a director 
of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Yan is a member of the Communist Party of China. He graduated from Hunan 
University with a postgraduate in economics faculty. He had worked as a deputy general manager at Hunan Zhuzhou 
Electric Welding Company Limited before joining VATS Group in 1999. During his engagement as the vice president 
of VATS Group, he had also involved in various operating positions within VATS Group including acting as the 
general manager of Shangri-la Winery Company Limited and the chief operation officer of Jin Liu Fu Sales Company 
Limited. He is currently the president of VATS Group and holds 10% equity interests in VATS Group. Mr. Yan has 
years of experience in marketing of wine and baijiu products and has extensive experience in the operation of chain 
stores.

SHU SHI PING
Executive Director and Chief Executive

Mr. Shu Shi Ping, aged 51, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 27 September 2004 and 
became the chief executive and authorized representative of the Company on 21 June 2011. He is a director of 
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Shu had been appointed as the deputy director of the Municipal Office of 
Changsha, Hunan Province, the executive deputy general manager of Zhuhai Jiaguan Plastic Products Company 
Limited and the general manager of Yunnan Jinliufu Liancai Trading Company Limited. He is currently the director 
and general manager of Shangri-la Winery Company Limited. Mr. Shu is a member of ‘Wine Expert Committee under 
China Foods Association’ and obtained a bachelor degree from Hubei University of Technology (formerly known as 
‘Hubei Light Industry College’). He is experienced in the production and marketing of wine products.
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SUN JIAN XIN
Executive Director

Mr. Sun Jian Xin, aged 45, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 3 October 2007. He is 
a director of a subsidiary of the Company. He graduated from the Food Science Department of the Southwest 
Agricultural University and is experienced in the sales and marketing of wine and baijiu products in the PRC. Mr. 
Sun used to work with Hunan Zhuzhou Hualong Food Company Limited. He currently serves as the vice president of 
VATS Group.

NG KWONG CHUE, PAUL
Executive Director

Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul, aged 43, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 28 March 2011. 
He is the authorized representative, company secretary and chief investment officer of the Company. He is also a 
director of a subsidiary of the Company. He holds a bachelor degree in Commerce from the University of Melbourne. 
He is a member of each of CPA Australia, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and Hong Kong 
Investor Relations Association, and a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He has many years of 
experience in corporate finance, corporate restructuring and taxation gained from international accounting firms. He 
also serves as the executive director of Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited (stock code: 1007). He was the co-founder of 
China Innovation Investment Limited (stock code: 1217) and had acted as the executive director and non-executive 
director of the company from April 2003 to May 2006 and from May 2006 to May 2013 respectively. Mr. Ng is also 
the honorary chairman for Macao ASEAN International Chamber of Commerce, the honorary president for Fujian 
Province Shishi Yuhu Care Charity Association and The General Association of Xiamen (H.K.) Ltd.

ZHANG JIAN
Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Jian, aged 40, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 25 February 2004. He currently 
serves as an executive director of Dongyue Group Limited (stock code:189) and a director of Macrolink Real Estate 
Co. Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000620). Mr. Zhang has many years 
of experience in the areas of investment banking and corporate finance. He holds a bachelor degree in law and 
economics from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics and a master degree in business administration from 
The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

TING LEUNG HUEL, STEPHEN
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen, MH, FCCA, FCPA (Practising), ACA, CTA (HK), FHKIoD, aged 60, was appointed as 
an independent non-executive director of the Company on 25 February 2004. He is the chairman of each of the 
audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the 
Nomination Committee. Mr. Ting is an accountant in public practice and has more than 30 years of experience 
in this field. Currently, he is the managing partner of Messrs Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, Certified Public Accountants. 
He is a member of the 9th, 10th and 11th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, Fujian. He is a non-
executive director of Chow Sang Sang Holdings International Limited (stock code: 116) and an independent non-
executive director of six listed companies, namely Tongda Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 698), Tong Ren Tang 
Technologies Co. Ltd. (stock code:1666), Computer and Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code:46), Texhong 
Textile Group Limited (stock code: 2678), China SCE Property Holdings Limited (stock code:1966) and Dongyue 
Group Limited (stock code: 189). He had been an independent non-executive director of MMG Limited (stock code: 
1208) from June 2002 to November 2011.
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E MENG
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. E Meng, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 27 September 
2004. He is a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee. Mr. E graduated from China Science and Technology University with a master degree in engineering. He 
is a PRC senior accountant with the qualifications of PRC certified accountant, asset appraiser, certified real estate 
appraiser and tax appraiser. Mr. E has extensive experience in economics, finance and enterprise management. From 
1988 to 1997, he was the deputy director of Beijing New Technology Development Zone and concurrently acting 
as the director of the Department of Financial Auditing, the general manager of Investment Operation Company, the 
chief accountant of Beijing Tianping Accounting Firm and the deputy director of the State-owned Assets Management 
Office of Beijing Haidian District. Mr. E serves as the chairman and executive director of Beijing Development 
(Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 154), an executive director and the executive vice president of Beijing Enterprises 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 392), the vice-chairman and an executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group 
Limited (stock code: 371) and the vice-general manager and the chief financial officer of Beijing Enterprises Group 
Company Limited.

CAO KUANGYU
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Cao Kuangyu, aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 25 
February 2004. He is a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee. He holds a bachelor degree in economics from the University of Hunan and obtained a master degree 
in financial management from the University of London. Mr. Cao has extensive experience in the areas of banking 
and finance. He worked in Bank of China, Hunan Province branch for the period from July 1981 to February 1996 
and his last position was the deputy president of the branch. For the period from February 1996 to September 1999, 
Mr. Cao was the deputy general manager of Bank of China, Singapore branch. For the period from September 1999 
to September 2003, he was the president of China Citic Bank, Shenzhen branch. Then he worked as the managing 
director of the investment banking division of BOCI Asia Limited from September 2003 to September 2007. Mr. Cao 
is the independent non-executive director of Huili Resources (Group) Limited (stock code: 1303), Dongwu Cement 
International Limited (stock code: 695) and Junefield Department Store Group Limited (stock code: 758). He served 
as a non-executive director of Continental Holdings Limited (stock code: 513) from April 2010 to December 2011, 
and had been the independent non-executive director of Simsen International Corporation Limited (stock code: 993) 
from April 2010 to June 2010 and King Stone Energy Group Limited (stock code: 663) from February 2010 to April 
2012.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their annual report together with 
the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company and its principal subsidiaries are 
engaged in the manufacturing and trading of self-owned brand grape wine, tibetan 
barley wine and Chinese baijiu. The Group’s head office is in Hong Kong and all of its 
manufacturing and sales operations are located in the PRC.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2013 are set out in the 
consolidated income statement on page 59.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 
December 2013 (2012: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATION
Charitable donation made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2013 
amounted to approximately HK$76,000.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five 
financial years is set out on page 136.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 27 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year are 
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2013, the Company did not have any distributable reserves.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements during the year in the property, plant and equipment of the Group 
are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wu Xiang Dong (Chairman)
Mr. Yan Tao (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Shu Shi Ping (Chief Executive)
Mr. Sun Jian Xin
Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul
Mr. Zhang Jian

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen
Mr. E Meng
Mr. Cao Kuangyu

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”),  
Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul, Mr. Zhang Jian and Mr. Cao Kuangyu will retire by rotation 
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting. All of the remaining Directors will continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
As at 31 December 2013, none of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is 
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, 
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 22 to 25 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in notes 32 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements, no 
contract of significance, to which the Company, any of its holding companies or 
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, at any time during the year ended 31 December 2013.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT 
SECURITIES
Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in note 38 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any 
of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to 
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares 
in or debt securities, including debentures, of the Company or any other body 
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Save for Mr. Wu Xiang Dong and Mr. Yan Tao who are both holding shares and 
directorships in a number of private companies involved in the manufacturing, 
sale and distribution of Chinese baijiu and wine in the PRC, none of the 
Directors or any of their respective associates had any interest in a business 
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the 
businesses of the Group.

The above-mentioned private businesses are operated and managed by 
companies with independent administration. In addition, the Board is 
independent of the boards of the above-mentioned private companies. 
Accordingly, the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses independent of 
the private businesses mentioned above.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(a) Directors’ interests and short positions in the securities of the Company 

and its associated corporations

As at 31 December 2013, the following Directors or the chief executive of the 
Company had or were deemed to have interests or short positions in the shares, 
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“SFO”)) (i) which were required to be notified 
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under 
such provision of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the 
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) contained in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing 
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange:

(i) The Company

Name of Director Nature of interest
No. of shares 

held Position

Approximate 
percentage of 

issued share 
capital

     

Mr. Wu Xiang Dong (Note) Controlled corporation 841,120,169 Long 50.41%

Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul Beneficial owner 3,000,000 Long 0.18%

Note: These shares are held by JLF Investment Company Limited (“JLF BVI”) which is a 
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is wholly-owned by Yunnan 
Jinliufu Investment Company Limited. Yunnan Jinliufu Investment Company Limited 
is owned as to 80% by VATS Group Limited (a company owned as to 90% by Mr. Wu 
Xiang Dong and 10% by Mr. Yan Tao) and 20% by Macro-Link Holding Company 
Limited. Mr. Wu Xiang Dong also owns 5% equity interests in Macro-Link Holding 
Company Limited which, through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, MACRO-
LINK International Investment Co, Ltd., held 215,988,337 shares (or 12.94% of the 
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2013).
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ interests and short positions in the securities of the 
Company and its associated corporations (Continued)

(ii) Associated Corporation

Name of 
associated 
corporation

Name of 
owner Capacity Position

Registered 
capital held in 
the associated 

corporation

Approximate 
percentage 

of registered 
capital

      

VATS Group 
 Limited

Mr. Wu Xiang 
 Dong

Beneficial 
 owner

Long RMB90,000,000 90%

VATS Group 
 Limited

Mr. Yan Tao Beneficial 
 owner

Long RMB10,000,000 10%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none of the Directors 
nor the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any 
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning 
of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part 
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were 
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which 
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the 
register referred to therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Continued)

(b) Persons who have interests or short positions to be disclosed under 
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO

So far as is known to the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, 
as at 31 December 2013, the following persons (not being Directors or chief 
executive of the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short 
positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 
of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder Notes Nature of interest
No. of shares 

held Position

Approximate 
percentage of 

issued share 
capital

      

JLF BVI 1 Beneficial owner 841,120,169 Long 50.41%

Yunnan Jinliufu Investment 
 Company Limited

1 Controlled corporation 841,120,169 Long 50.41%

VATS Group Limited 1 Controlled corporation 841,120,169 Long 50.41%

MACRO-LINK International 
 Investment Co, Ltd.

2 Beneficial owner 215,988,337 Long 12.94%

Macro-Link Industrial Investment 
 Limited

3 Controlled corporation 215,988,337 Long 12.94%

Macro-Link Holding Company 
 Limited

3 Controlled corporation 215,988,337 Long 12.94%

Mr. Fu Kwan 3,4 Controlled corporation 215,988,337 Long 12.94%

Xizang Cheung Shek Investment 
 Company Limited

4 Controlled corporation 215,988,337 Long 12.94%

Ms. Xiao Wenhui 4 Beneficial owner/
 Controlled corporation

217,988,337 Long 13.06%

Notes:

1. These shares are held by JLF BVI which is a company incorporated in the British Virgin 
Islands and is wholly-owned by Yunnan Jinliufu Investment Company Limited. Yunnan Jinliufu 
Investment Company Limited is owned as to 80% by VATS Group Limited (a company owned 
as to 90% by Mr. Wu Xiang Dong and 10% by Mr. Yan Tao) and 20% by Macro-Link Holding 
Company Limited.

2. These shares are held by MACRO-LINK International Investment Co, Ltd. which is a company 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is wholly-owned by Macro-Link Industrial 
Investment Limited.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Continued)

(b) Persons who have interests or short positions to be disclosed 
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO (Continued)

Notes:  (Continued)

3. Macro-Link Industrial Investment Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Macro-
Link Holding Company Limited. Macro-Link Holding Company Limited is owned 
as to 75% by Xizang Cheung Shek Investment Company Limited, as to 10.63% 
by Mr. Fu Kwan, as to 5% by Mr. Wu Xiang Dong and as to the remaining by five 
individuals.

4. Xizang Cheung Shek Investment Company Limited is owned as to 53.35% by 
Mr. Fu Kwan, as to 33.33% by Ms. Xiao Wenhui who also has a personal interest 
in 2,000,000 shares of the Company, and as to 3.33% by each of the other four 
individuals.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, the Directors were 
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and the chief 
executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or 
short positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be 
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions 
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

PURCHASE,  REDEMPTION OR SALE  OF L ISTED 
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or 
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
In order to increase the Group’s revenue stream and earnings, the master sales 
agreements and the master purchases agreement were entered into on 6 July 
2012 as described in the paragraphs below. The Company has complied with the 
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in 
force from time to time.

Master Sales Agreements

(A) Shangri-la Agreement

On 6 July 2012, Shangri-la Winery Company Limited (“Shangri-
la Winery”) entered into a master sales agreement (the “Shangri-la 
Agreement”) with VATS Chain Liquor Store Management Company 
Limited (“VATS Chain Store”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell 
grape wine and the related services (the “Shangri-la Wines”) produced 
and provided by Shangri-la Winery, on a non-exclusive basis, to VATS 
Chain Store for a term commencing from 1 July 2012 up to 31 December 
2014.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Master Sales Agreements (Continued)

(A) Shangri-la Agreement (Continued)

As VATS Chain Store is owned as to 67.08% by Mr. Wu Xiang Dong (who is 
the chairman of the Board and an executive Director) and 2.76% by VATS 
Group Limited (which is the ultimate holding company of JLF BVI, a company 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and interested in about 50.41% of the 
issued share capital of the Company) and thus, is a connected person of the 
Company.

Under the Shangri-la Agreement, the Shangri-la Wines are sold by the Group to 
VATS Chain Store at a price which is 20%-25% lower than average wholesale 
prices as VATS Chain Store has agreed to invest not less than 20% of the total 
actual annual purchased amount to promote and raise the brand image and 
market position of Shangri-la brand and shall bear and be solely responsible for 
all the costs and expenses to be incurred in relation to the sales and distribution 
of the Shangri-la Wines. The terms of sales will be of no less favourable than 
terms offered to other independent third parties who are willing to order similar 
quantity under similar conditions.

The sales caps under the Shangri-la Agreement for each of the two years ended 
31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 was RMB30 million and RMB40 
million respectively and for the year ending 31 December 2014 is RMB50 
million.

(B) Jinliufu Agreement

On 6 July 2012, Shangri-la Winery and Heilongjiang Province YuQuan Winery 
Company Limited (“YuQuan”) entered into a master sales agreement (the “Jinliufu 
Agreement”) with Yunnan Jinliufu Trading Limited (“Yunnan JLF Trading”) 
pursuant to which Yunnan JLF Trading has agreed to purchase the grape wine, 
tibetan naked barley wine and the related services (the “Shangri-la Products”) 
produced and provided by Shangri-la Winery, the Chinese baijiu and the related 
services (the “Yuquan Products”) produced and provided by YuQuan, on a non-
exclusive basis for a term commencing from 1 July 2012 up to 31 December 
2014.

As Yunnan JLF Trading is ultimately owned as to 80% by VATS Group Limited 
(which is the ultimate holding company of JLF BVI) and thus, is a connected 
person of the Company.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Master Sales Agreements (Continued)

(B) Jinliufu Agreement (Continued)

Under the Jinliufu Agreement, the Shangri-la Products and the Yuquan 
Products are sold by the Group to Yunnan JLF Trading at a price which 
is 20%-25% lower than average wholesale prices as Yunnan JLF Trading 
has agreed to invest not less than 20% of total actual annual purchased 
amount to promote and raise the brand image and market position of 
Shangri-la brand and Yuquan brand. In addition, Yunnan JLF Trading 
shall also bear and be solely responsible for all the costs and expenses 
to be incurred in relation to the sales and distribution of the Shangri-
la Products and Yuquan Products. The terms of sales are of no less 
favourable than terms offered to other independent third parties who are 
willing to order similar quantity under similar conditions.

The sales caps under the Jinliufu Agreement for each of the two years 
ended 31 December 2012 and 2013 was RMB30 million and for the year 
ending 31 December 2014 is RMB35 million.

Master Purchases Agreement

On 6 July 2012, YuQuan entered into a master purchases agreement (“MPA”) 
with Yunnan Jinliufu Liancai Trading Company Limited (“Jinliufu Liancai”), 
pursuant to which the Group has agreed to purchase raw materials and the 
related services, on a non-exclusive basis, from Jinliufu Liancai for a term 
commencing from 1 July 2012 up to 31 December 2014. The purchase price 
of such raw materials shall be determined based on normal commercial terms 
through arm’s length negotiation or on terms no less favourable than the terms 
available from independent third parties for purchase of similar materials and 
services of comparable quality and quantity.

As Jinliufu Liancai is ultimately owned as to 80% by VATS Group Limited (which 
is the ultimate holding company of JLF BVI) and thus, is a connected person of 
the Company.

The purchase caps under the MPA for each of the two years ended 31 December 
2012 and 31 December 2013 was RMB12 million and RMB15 million 
respectively and for the year ending 31 December 2014 is RMB15 million.

As stated in the circular of the Company dated 6 August 2012, the Shangri-la 
Agreement and the Jinliufu Agreement have been entered into mainly for the 
purposes of bringing in additional reliable sales channel, and revising certain 
terms and the annual sales caps under the master sales agreement dated 27 
August 2010 to cater for the continuous growth of the Group. The MPA has 
been entered into for the purposes of expanding the scope of and revising the 
annual purchase caps under the master purchase agreement dated 27 August 
2010 to reflect the increases in production volume. A special general meeting of 
the Company was held on 23 August 2012 and approval of each of the Shangri-
la Agreement, the Jinliufu Agreement and the MPA (including their respective 
annual caps) were given by the then independent shareholders.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the above 
continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;

(ii) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are no sufficient comparable 
transactions to judge whether they are on normal commercial terms, on terms 
no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate) 
independent third parties; and

(iii) in accordance with each of the Shangri-la Agreement, the Jinliufu Agreement 
and the MPA governing them respectively on terms that are fair and reasonable 
and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have also reviewed and confirmed that the above 
continuing connected transactions:

(i) have received the approval of the Board;

(ii) are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(iii) have been entered into in accordance with each of the Shangri-la Agreement, 
the Jinliufu Agreement and the MPA governing the transactions respectively; and

(iv) have not exceeded the relevant annual caps under each of the Shangri-la 
Agreement, the Jinliufu Agreement and the MPA respectively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the corporate governance code duly adopted by the Company are set out on 
pages 38 to 56 of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors namely  
Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. E Meng and Mr. Cao Kuangyu.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting principles and 
practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial reporting 
matters including a review of the audited financial statements and report of the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2013. The Audit Committee was content that the 
accounting policies of the Group are in accordance with the current best practice in 
Hong Kong.



37

a
n

n
u

a
l

 
r

e
p

o
r

t
 

2
0

1
3

Directors’ Report

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws, or the laws 
of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata 
basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders 
by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

AUDITORS
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 
were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will 
expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-
appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the 
Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 
and 31 December 2012 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng and HLB 
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited respectively. In March 2012, the practice of 
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng was reorganised as HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng 
Limited. Save for the above, there has been no other change in the auditors of 
the Company in any of the preceding three years.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information which is publicly available to the Company and 
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, there 
is sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as 
required under the Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
Wu Xiang Dong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2014
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year ended 31 
December 2013.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
Good corporate governance has always been recognised as vital to the Group’s 
success and to sustain development of the Group. We commit ourselves to attain and 
maintain high standards of corporate governance to enhancing shareholders’ value 
and safeguarding interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board has 
implemented corporate governance code appropriate to the conduct and growth of the 
Group’s businesses.

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) sets out principles of good corporate 
governance and two levels of recommendations:

• Code Provisions, with which issuers are expected to comply or give considered 
reasons for any deviation; and

• Recommended Best Practices, for guidance only, save that issuers are 
encouraged, but not required, to comply or give reasons for deviation.

Responsibility
Consistency 
Sustainability 
Commitment to Create
Value for Stakeholders
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE (Continued)

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company has complied with all 
the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except for code provision A.6.7 of the 
CG Code which stipulates that independent non-executive directors and non-executive 
directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of 
the views of shareholders. During the year, Mr. E Meng and Mr. Cao Kuangyu, being 
independent non-executive Directors were unable to attend the annual general meeting 
of the Company held on 3 June 2013 due to their overseas business engagement. 

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of 
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its 
own code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, all of them confirmed that they have 
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year 
ended 31 December 2013.

The Company also has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than 
the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions 
by employees who, because of such office or position, are likely to possess inside 
information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees 
was noted by the Company.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board, which 
assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively 
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising its 
affairs. All Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company, including the 
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal 
control and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those may 
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other 
significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice 
and services of the Company’s company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) with a 
view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are 
followed.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Responsibilities (Continued)

Each Director is able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate 
circumstances at the Company’s expense upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company 
are delegated to the chief executive and the senior management. The delegated 
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained 
from the Board prior to any significant transactions or commitments entered into 
on the Company’s behalf.

The Board has the full support of the senior management to discharge its 
responsibilities.

Composition

The Board currently comprises six executive Directors and three independent 
non-executive Directors. The function of the Board is to guide the management 
to ensure the interests of the shareholders of the Company and other 
stakeholders are safeguard.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse board to 
enhance the quality of its performance. The size and composition of the Board 
are reviewed from time to time, taking into account the scope and nature of 
operations of the Company, to ensure that the necessary balance of skills and 
experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and 
facilitate effective decision-making.

As at 31 December 2013, the Board comprised the following members:

Name of Director Position

Date of first 
appointment 
to the Board

Date of last 
re-election at 

general meeting
    

Mr. Wu Xiang Dong Chairman/Executive Director/
 Chairman of Nomination 
 Committee

25/2/2004 3/6/2013

Mr. Yan Tao Vice-Chairman/
 Executive Director

27/4/2009 15/5/2012

Mr. Shu Shi Ping Chief Executive/
 Executive Director

27/9/2004 3/6/2013

Mr. Sun Jian Xin Executive Director 3/10/2007 3/6/2013
Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, 
 Paul

Executive Director/
 Company Secretary/
 Chief Investment Officer

28/3/2011 9/5/2011

Mr. Zhang Jian Executive Director 25/2/2004 9/5/2011
Mr. Ting Leung Huel, 
 Stephen

Independent non-executive 
 Director/Chairman of 
 Remuneration Committee
 and Audit Committee

25/2/2004 15/5/2012

Mr. E Meng Independent non-executive 
 Director

27/9/2004 15/5/2012

Mr. Cao Kuangyu Independent non-executive 
 Director

25/2/2004 9/5/2011
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Composition (Continued)

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director having sound 
industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic planning experience and 
expertise relevant to the business operations and development of the Group. All 
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors bring a variety of 
experience and expertise to the Company. Biographical details of the Directors are set 
out in the section of “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 22 
to 25 of this annual report. The Company has maintained on the Company’s website 
and on the Stock Exchange’s website an updated list of Directors identifying their role 
and function. Independent non-executive Directors are also identified in all corporate 
communications that disclose the names of Directors.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family, or other material/relevant 
relationship(s)) among the Board members.

Appointment and Re-election

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures for 
the appointment of new Directors. A person may be appointed as a member of the 
Board at any time either by the shareholders in general meeting or by the Board upon 
recommendation by the Nomination Committee. The procedures for shareholders of the 
Company to propose a person as a Director are accessible from the Company’s website.

In compliance with code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive Directors 
are appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has accepted a formal appointment by the Company for a period of 
three years and subject to retirement by rotation once every three years pursuant to bye-
law 87(1) of the Bye-laws.

Code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code stipulates that any directors appointed to fill a 
casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting 
after their appointment. Every director, including those appointed for a specific term, 
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

According to the Bye-laws and the code provision of the CG Code, all Directors 
(including executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) are subject to 
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) in August 
2013 which sets out its approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board.

The Company recognises the benefits of board diversity and endeavours to ensure that 
the Board has the appropriate balance and level of skills, experience and perspectives 
required to support the execution of its business strategies and sustainable development. 
According to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve board diversity 
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, 
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge 
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration factors based on its 
own business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the optimum 
composition of the Board.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

The Nomination Committee has set measurable objectives (in terms of gender, 
age, skills and experience) to implement the Board Diversity Policy. Such 
objectives will be reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and 
the progress made towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained. The 
Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to 
ensure its continued effectiveness.

A copy of the Board Diversity Policy has been published on the Company’s 
website for public information.

Board Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year at quarterly 
intervals for reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance, 
and considering and approving the overall operating strategies and policies of 
the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, four Board meetings were held to 
consider the interim and final results announcements, financial reports, to adopt 
the Board Diversity Policy and approve the revised terms of reference of the 
Nomination Committee and to discuss significant issues and general operation 
efficiency of the Group. The attendance records of the Directors are set out 
below:

Number of attendance
  

Executive Directors
Mr. Wu Xiang Dong 4/4
Mr. Yan Tao 4/4
Mr. Shu Shi Ping 4/4
Mr. Sun Jian Xin 2/4
Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul 4/4
Mr. Zhang Jian 4/4

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen 4/4
Mr. E Meng 4/4
Mr. Cao Kuangyu 4/4
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board Meetings (Continued)

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before 
the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally 
given. Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are 
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee meeting 
to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the 
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each Director 
also have separate and independent access to the senior management whenever 
necessary.

The chief executive and Company Secretary attend regular Board meetings and when 
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on business developments, 
financial and accounting matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and 
other major aspects of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board and 
committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comment 
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ 
inspection.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves 
conflict of interests on a substantial shareholder or a Director, will be considered and 
dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. The Bye-laws also contain 
provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the 
quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their 
associates have a material interest.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business and financial 
expertise, experiences and independent judgement to the Board. Through serving 
on Board committees and active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in 
managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, all independent non-executive 
Directors make various contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Board at all times met the requirements 
under Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules with at least three independent non-
executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board. Among the three independent 
non-executive Directors, one of them has the appropriate professional qualifications in 
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the independent 
non-executive Directors of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. 
Based on such confirmation, the Company considers all the independent non-executive 
Directors to be independent.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Cao Kuangyu, who is to retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company, has served as an independent non-executive Director 
for more than 9 years. He satisfies the independence factors as set out in Rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules but he is neither involved in the daily management of 
the Company nor has any relationships or there exists any circumstances which 
would interfere with the exercise of his independent judgement. In addition, 
he continues to demonstrate the attributes of an independent non-executive 
Director and there is no evidence that his tenure has had any impact on his 
independence. The Board is of the opinion that Mr. Cao remains independent 
notwithstanding the length of his service and his valuable knowledge and 
experience will continue to benefit to the Company and the shareholders as a 
whole.

Supply of and Access to Information

The management supplied the Board with adequate and sufficient information 
through financial reports, business and operational reports, in a timely manner, 
to enable them to make informed decisions.

The management provided all Directors with monthly updates giving a balanced 
and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and 
prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director 
to discharge their duties.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and Indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
for the Directors and officers of the Company in respect of legal action against 
them arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance policy covers 
directors’ and officers’ liability contract, company reimbursement contract, legal 
representation expenses contract and securities claims contract. Throughout the 
year ended 31 December 2013, no claim has been made against the Directors 
and officers of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of his responsibility as a Director and of the 
conduct, business activities and development of the Group. The Company 
regularly reviews the business development of the Group. The Company 
Secretary from time to time updates and provides written materials to the 
Directors, and organizes seminars on the latest development of the Listing Rules 
and other applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep 
of good corporate governance practices.

Every newly appointed Director will be provided a comprehensive, formal 
and tailored induction so as to ensure he has appropriate understanding of the 
Group’s business and of his duties and responsibilities under the Listing Rules 
and the relevant statutory requirements.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Continuing Professional Development (Continued)

The Directors have complied with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on 
continuous professional development by participating in appropriate continuous 
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and 
providing the Company their records of training for the year ended 31 December 2013. 
The types of training attended by the Directors during the year are as follows:

Directors Training Types Notes

  

Executive Directors
Mr. Wu Xiang Dong c,e
Mr. Yan Tao c,e
Mr. Shu Shi Ping c,d,e
Mr. Sun Jian Xin c,e
Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul a,b,d,e
Mr. Zhang Jian a,b

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen a,b,d,e
Mr. E Meng b,d,e
Mr. Cao Kuangyu a

Notes:

a. Regulatory
b. Corporate Governance
c. Business
d. Finance
e. Managerial

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
The Company fully supports the division of responsibility between the chairman of the 
Board and the chief executive to ensure a balance of power and authority.

The positions of the chairman and the chief executive are currently held by Mr. Wu 
Xiang Dong and Mr. Shu Shi Ping respectively.

The chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning of the 
Board in accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the support of the 
senior management, the chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the Directors 
receive adequate, complete and reliable information and appropriate briefing on issues 
arising at Board meetings in a timely manner.

The chief executive focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies 
approved and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day 
management and operations. The chief executive is also responsible for developing 
strategic plans and formulating the organisational structure, control systems and internal 
procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Nomination 
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee, for 
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Details of which are as 
follows:

Committee membership
   

Name
Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Audit 
Committee

    

Mr. Wu Xiang Dong C M
Mr. Yan Tao M M
Mr. Shu Shi Ping
Mr. Sun Jian Xin
Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul
Mr. Zhang Jian
Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen M C C
Mr. E Meng M M M
Mr. Cao Kuangyu M M M

Notes:

C Chairman of the relevant Board committees
M Member of the relevant Board committees

The written terms of reference of each of the Board committees, which set out 
the committees’ major duties, are available at the websites of the Company and 
the Stock Exchange.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their 
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional 
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

(1) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 31 July 2005 with 
specific terms of reference setting out the committee’s authority and 
duties. Following the adoption of the Board Diversity Policy on 30 
August 2013, the terms of reference were revised on 30 August 2013. 
The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors namely  
Mr. Wu Xiang Dong (Chairman) and Mr. Yan Tao and three independent 
non-executive Directors namely Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen, Mr. E 
Meng and Mr. Cao Kuangyu.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, among other matters, the 
following:

• to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including 
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length 
of service) of the Board annually and make recommendations on 
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s 
corporate strategy;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

• to identify and nominate qualified individual for appointment as 
additional Director or to fill Board’s casual vacancy for the Board’s 
approval as and when the circumstances arise. In identifying suitable 
individual, it shall consider individual on merit and against the objective 
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

• to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors 
and to review the independence non-executive Directors’ annual 
confirmations with respect to their independence; and make disclosure 
of its review results in the Corporate Governance Report;

• to regularly review the time required for the Directors to perform their 
responsibilities and to assess if they are spending enough time to fulfill 
their duties;

• to make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the 
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning 
for Directors, in particular the chairman and chief executive; taking into 
consideration the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills, 
knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future;

• to ensure that on appointment to the Board, Directors receive a formal 
letter of appointment setting out clearly the key terms and conditions of 
their appointment;

• to review the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and review the 
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the Board 
Diversity Policy, the progress on achieving the objectives and make 
disclosure of its review results in the Corporate Governance Report 
annually;

• to do such things to enable the Nomination Committee to discharge its 
duties conferred on it by the Board; and

• to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from 
time to time be prescribed by the Board or imposed by the Listing Rules 
or applicable laws.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Nomination Committee met 
once, during which it assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and considered the re-election of the retiring Directors at 
the annual general meeting. The attendance of each member of the Nomination 
Committee is set out below:

Name of members Number of attendance
  

Mr. Wu Xiang Dong (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Yan Tao 1/1
Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen 1/1
Mr. E Meng 1/1
Mr. Cao Kuangyu 1/1
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(2) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 31 July 2005 with 
specific terms of reference setting out the committee’s authority and 
duties. The Remuneration Committee comprises two executive Directors 
namely Mr. Wu Xiang Dong and Mr. Yan Tao and three independent non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen (Chairman), 
Mr. E Meng and Mr. Cao Kuangyu.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among other matters, 
the following:

• to advise the Board on and to review of the remuneration policy 
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior 
management;

• to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 
packages of individual executive Directors and senior 
management;

• to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of 
non-executive Directors;

• to approve compensation payable to executive Directors and 
senior management for any loss or termination of office or 
appointment;

• to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to 
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct;

• to address and deal with such other matters as may be delegated 
by the Board from time to time; and

• to ensure that no Director nor any of his associates is involved in 
deciding his own remuneration.

Emolument Policy

The Directors are paid fees in line with market practice. The Group 
adopted the following main principles of determining the Directors’ 
remuneration:

• No individual should determine his or her own remuneration;

• Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with 
whom the Group competes for human resources; and

• Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility with 
a view to attract, motivate and retain high performing individuals 
and promoting the enhancement of the value of the Company to 
its shareholders.

In addition to the basic salaries, a share option scheme is adopted for 
rewarding good performers as well as retaining talented staff for the 
continual operation and development of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(2) Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Remuneration Paid to Members of Senior Management

Details of remuneration paid to members of senior management fell within the 
following bands:

Remuneration bands Number of individuals
  

Up to HK$1,000,000 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2

Particulars relating to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid employees 
as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set 
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 107 
to 108 of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Remuneration Committee 
met once, during which it conducted the annual review for the remuneration 
packages of the Directors and senior management. The attendance of each 
member of the Remuneration Committee is set out as below:

Name of members Number of attendance
  

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Wu Xiang Dong 1/1
Mr. Yan Tao 1/1
Mr. E Meng 1/1
Mr. Cao Kuangyu 1/1

(3) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 31 July 2005 with specific 
terms of reference setting out the committee’s authority and duties. The 
Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors 
namely Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. E Meng and  
Mr. Cao Kuangyu with Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen who possesses the 
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 
management expertise. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former 
partner of the Company’s existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among other matters, the 
following:

(a) to review the financial statements and consider any significant or unusual 
items raised by the financial controller, compliance officer, internal 
auditor (if any) or external auditors before submission to the Board;

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditors by reference to the 
work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement, and 
make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment 
and removal of external auditors; and

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial 
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system 
and associated procedures.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(3) Audit Committee (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Audit Committee held 
two meetings to review the interim and annual financial statements 
of the Group, consider the independence and re-appointment of the 
external auditors and review the financial reporting system, compliance 
procedures and internal control system of the Group. The attendance 
records of the Audit Committee members are set out below:

Name of members Number of attendance
  

Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. E Meng 2/2
Mr. Cao Kuangyu 2/2

The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit 
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal 
of external auditors.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2013 has 
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

(4) Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance 
functions as set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code 
including, among other matters:

• to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on 
corporate governance;

• to review and monitor the training and continuous professional 
development of Directors and senior management;

• to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

• to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and 
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and 
employees; and

• to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and 
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Board has reviewed 
the Company’s corporate governance practices and the Company’s 
compliance with the CG Code.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 December 2013, the remuneration of the Company’s external 
auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, and the nature of services are set out as 
follows:

Type of services Fee paid/payable
  

Audit services:
Audit of annual financial statements HK$1,000,000

Non-audit services:
Review of continuing connected transactions HK$200,000
  

In addition, fees of approximately HK$94,000 were paid to the PRC auditors for the 
auditing of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company.

The Audit Committee reviewed the independence of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng 
Limited and has concluded that it is satisfied with the professional performance, and 
therefore recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be re-
appointed as the Company’s auditors in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

RESPONSIB IL IT IES  IN RESPECT OF THE F INANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable 
assessment of annual and interim reports and other disclosures required under the 
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statement of 
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 and presenting a balanced, clear 
and comprehensive assessment for the Group’s performance, position and prospects.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.

The statement of Messrs. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, being the external 
auditors of the Company, reporting their responsibilities on the financial statements is 
set out in the “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 57 to 58.
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INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK
Internal Control

The Company adopted the code provisions on internal controls which are to 
be implemented for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2005 
pursuant to the CG Code.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control of the Group and is satisfied with the findings.

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s internal 
control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s 
management and the Board regarding the preparation and fair presentation 
of published financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent 
limitations due to human controls. Therefore, even those systems determined 
to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to 
financial statement preparation and presentation. Management maintains a 
comprehensive system of controls to ensure that transactions are executed in 
accordance with management’s authorization, assets are safeguarded, and 
financial records are reliable. Management also takes steps to ensure that 
information and communication flows are effective and the internal control 
procedures are being followed. The effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control is assessed based on the criteria set forth by the VATS Group’s Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework.

Based on this assessment which covers all material controls including 
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions, 
management believes that, as of 31 December 2013, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting is effective. Management’s assessment of the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control has been reviewed by the Audit 
Committee which agreed on management’s assessment. The Board is satisfied 
that there are adequate resources of staff with appropriate qualifications and 
experience in its accounting and financial reporting team and that sufficient 
training and budget have been provided.

Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and 
dissemination of inside information, the Board is fully aware of its obligations 
under the new Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, effective from 
1 January 2013 and the Listing Rules and conduct its affairs with due regard to 
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities 
and Futures Commission in June 2012.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul, being the Company Secretary and the executive Director, 
plays an important role in supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow 
within the Board and that the Board policy and procedures are followed.

The Company Secretary reports to the Board through the chairman and chief executive. 
All Directors may access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who 
regularly updates the Board on governance and regulatory matters.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul has undertaken 
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 
of the Listing Rules. Details of his training are set out in the section of ‘Continuing 
Professional Development’ on page 46 of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR 
RELATIONS
The Board recognises the importance of effective communication with the shareholders 
and investors. The Company communicates with its shareholders and investors through 
various channels including publication of interim and annual reports, announcements, 
circulars and publications which are all available on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company. Corporate communications issued by the Company have 
been provided to the shareholders in both English and Chinese versions for better 
understanding.

Designated executive Director(s) and senior management maintain regular dialogue 
with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the Company’s 
developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely 
manner. Investors may write directly to the Company at its principal place of business in 
Hong Kong or email at investor@jlfinvestment.com for any inquiries.

In order to provide shareholders with information about the Company, to enable them 
to engage actively with the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an 
informed manner, the Company has a ‘shareholders communication policy’ which is 
available on the Company’s website. The Board shall review the policy regularly to 
ensure its effectiveness and efficiency.

At general meetings, each substantially separate issue has been considered by a separate 
resolution, including the re-election of individual Director. The chairman of the Board, 
chairmen of the respective Board committees, senior management and the external 
auditors are normally available to answer questions at the shareholders’ meetings.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND 
INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

During the year, one general meeting was held. The 2013 annual general 
meeting held on 3 June 2013 was attended by, among others, the chairman 
of the Board, two executive Directors, chairmen of the Audit Committee, 
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee, and representatives of 
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, the external auditors of the Company, to answer 
questions raised by shareholders. The attendance records of the Directors are set 
out below:

Directors Number of attendance
  

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wu Xiang Dong 1/1
Mr. Yan Tao 0/1
Mr. Shu Shi Ping 0/1
Mr. Sun Jian Xin 0/1
Mr. Ng Kwong Chue, Paul 1/1
Mr. Zhang Jian 1/1

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ting Leung Huel, Stephen 1/1
Mr. E Meng 0/1
Mr. Cao Kuangyu 0/1

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2013, there was no change to the 
Company’s constitutional documents. A consolidated version of the 
Memorandum of Association and the Bye-laws are available on both the 
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedure for shareholders to convene a special general meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the date of 
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the 
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall 
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company 
Secretary, to request a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the 
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall 
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the 
requisitionist(s) himself/themselves may do so in the same manner.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Procedure for shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders can submit a requisition to move a resolution at general meetings pursuant 
to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The number of shareholders necessary for a 
requisition shall be:

• either representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all 
shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting; 
or

• not less than 100 shareholders.

The written requisitions must:

• state the resolution, with a statement not more than 1,000 words with respect to 
the matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with 
at the meeting;

• be signed by all the requisitionists (may consist of several documents in like form 
each signed by one or more requisitionists); and

• be deposited at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention 
of the Company Secretary not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a 
requisitionist requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week before 
the meeting in case of any other requisition.

With respect to proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures can be 
accessible on the Company’s website.

Shareholders enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board in writing with contact details, 
including registered name, address, telephone number and email address, to the 
Company Secretary as follows:

Address: Suite 1905B, 19/F., Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, 
Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2591 9919
Fax: (852) 2575 0999
Email: investor@jlfinvestment.com

Any matter in relation to the transfer of shares, change of name or address, loss of share 
certificates should be addressed to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar 
and transfer agent as follows:

Tricor Progressive Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2980 1333
Fax: (852) 2861 1465
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
國 衛 會 計 師 事 務 所 有 限 公 司

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
JLF INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of JLF Investment Company Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 59 to 135, 
which comprise the consolidated and Company statements of financial position as at 31 December 
2013 and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the 
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2013, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hon Koon Fai, Alex
Practising Certificate Number: P05029

Hong Kong, 24 March 2014
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Turnover 7 336,563 366,208
Cost of sales (172,635) (179,771)
    

Gross profit 163,928 186,437
Other revenue 9 17,610 19,249
Selling and distribution expenses (98,886) (103,535)
Administrative expenses (63,124) (56,177)
Other operating expenses (87,715) –
    

(Loss) profit from operating activities 10 (68,187) 45,974
Finance costs 12 (3,918) (4,277)
    

(Loss) profit before taxation (72,105) 41,697
Taxation 13 (7,660) (18,346)
    

(Loss) profit for the year (79,765) 23,351
    

Attributable to:
 Owners of the Company (81,975) 9,832
 Non-controlling interests 2,210 13,519
    

(79,765) 23,351
    

(Loss) earnings per share attributable to owners of  
 the Company
 Basic and diluted 16 HK (4.91 cents) HK 0.59 cent
    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

(Loss) profit for the year (79,765) 23,351

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
 Exchange differences arising from translation of foreign operations 15,192 14,100
   

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year (64,573) 37,451
   

Attributable to:
 Owners of the Company (68,495) 22,485
 Non-controlling interests 3,922 14,966
   

(64,573) 37,451
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

ASSETS
Non-current assets
 Land use rights 17 29,079 29,147
 Property, plant and equipment 18 300,457 288,113
 Intangible assets 19 36,582 36,117
 Available-for-sale investment 20 1,847 1,800
 Goodwill 21 144,449 177,959
    

512,414 533,136
    

Current assets
 Inventories 23 246,293 301,230
 Trade and bills receivables 24 39,450 40,130
 Prepayments, deposits paid and other receivables 25 77,609 37,995
 Cash and cash equivalents 26 141,623 132,877
    

504,975 512,232
    

Total assets 1,017,389 1,045,368
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of 
 the Company
 Share capital 27 16,685 16,685
 Reserves 579,375 647,870
    

596,060 664,555
Non-controlling interests 102,004 98,082
    

Total equity 698,064 762,637
    

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
 Deferred tax liabilities 29 22,736 22,136
 Bank borrowing – due after one year 33 64,445 –
    

87,181 22,136
    

Current liabilities
 Trade payables 30 49,667 51,913
 Accruals, deposits received and other payables 31 174,727 126,585
 Amounts due to related parties 32 1,289 8,561
 Bank borrowings – due within one year 33 – 62,795
 Tax payables 6,461 10,741
    

232,144 260,595
    

Total liabilities 319,325 282,731
    

Total equity and liabilities 1,017,389 1,045,368
    

Net current assets 272,831 251,637
    

Total assets less current liabilities 785,245 784,773
    

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

Wu Xiang Dong Yan Tao
Director Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

ASSETS
Non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment 18 37 71
 Interests in subsidiaries 22 393,185 393,250
    

393,222 393,321
    

Current assets
 Prepayments and deposits paid 25 1,124 965
 Cash and cash equivalents 26 7,351 21,213
    

8,475 22,178
    

Total assets 401,697 415,499
    

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
 the Company
 Share capital 27 16,685 16,685
 Reserves 28 381,922 396,131
    

Total equity 398,607 412,816
    

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
 Accruals and other payables 31 3,090 2,683
    

Total liabilities 3,090 2,683
    

Total equity and liabilities 401,697 415,499
    

Net current assets 5,385 19,495
    

Total assets less current liabilities 398,607 412,816
    

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

Wu Xiang Dong Yan Tao
Director Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Translation 
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Other 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Sub-total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

          

At 1 January 2012 16,685 409,918 51,318 30,580 356 133,213 642,070 83,116 725,186

Profit for the year – – – – – 9,832 9,832 13,519 23,351
Other comprehensive income – – 12,653 – – – 12,653 1,447 14,100
          

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – 12,653 – – 9,832 22,485 14,966 37,451
Appropriation to the statutory 
 reserve – – – 3,061 – (3,061) – – –
          

At 31 December 2012 and 
 1 January 2013 16,685 409,918 63,971 33,641 356 139,984 664,555 98,082 762,637

(Loss) profit for the year – – – – – (81,975) (81,975) 2,210 (79,765)
Other comprehensive income – – 13,480 – – – 13,480 1,712 15,192
          

Total comprehensive income (loss)
 for the year – – 13,480 – – (81,975) (68,495) 3,922 (64,573)
Appropriation to the statutory 
 reserve – – – 463 – (463) – – –
          

At 31 December 2013 16,685 409,918* 77,451* 34,104* 356* 57,546* 596,060 102,004 698,064
          

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserve of approximately HK$579,375,000 (2012: HK$647,870,000) in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2013

SHARE PREMIUM

The application of share premium account is governed by Section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 
(2012) of Bermuda.

TRANSLATION RESERVE

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations 
from their functional currency to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e Hong Kong dollars) are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve. 
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy of foreign currencies set out in 
note 3(m).

STATUTORY RESERVE

Statutory reserve represents the appropriation of 10% of profit after taxation, calculated in accordance 
with the accounting standards and regulations applicable to subsidiaries of the Company established 
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). When the balance of such statutory reserve reaches 
50% of the entity’s registered capital, any further appropriation is optional.

OTHER RESERVE

Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid to obtain additional non-
controlling interests in Yantai Shangri-la Masang Château Company Limited and its carrying amount on 
the date of the acquisition.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

 

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss) profit before taxation (72,105) 41,697
Adjustments for:
 Bank interest income 9 (314) (711)
 Impairment losses of trade and other receivables 10 82 1,373
 Impairment loss of goodwill 10 33,510 –
 Write-down of obsolete inventories 10 54,205 –
 Reversal of impairment losses of trade and 
  other receivables 9 (215) (749)
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18 23,183 16,661
 Amortisation of intangible assets and land use rights 17,19 1,317 1,289
 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 10 2,757 159
 Interest expenses 12 3,857 4,120
    

Operating cash flows before movements in 
 working capital 46,277 63,839
 Increase in trade and bills receivables, prepayments,
  deposits paid and other receivables (37,358) (7,755)
 Decrease (increase) in inventories 8,645 (53,247)
 Decrease in amounts due to related parties (7,497) (5,214)
 Increase in trade payables, accruals, 
  deposits received and other payables 41,207 36,909
    

Cash generated from operations 51,274 34,532
 Taxation paid (12,222) (23,988)
 Interest paid (3,857) (4,120)
    

Net cash generated from operating activities 35,195 6,424
    

Cash flows from investing activities
Bank interest received 314 711
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (30,719) (64,785)
    

Net cash used in investing activities (30,405) (64,074)
    

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings 63,623 37,677
Repayment of bank borrowings (63,623) (41,445)
    

Net cash used in financing activities – (3,768)
    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,790 (61,418)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 132,877 189,848
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of 
 cash held in foreign currency 3,956 4,447
    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 141,623 132,877
    

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Time deposits and bank balances and cash 141,623 132,877
    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and its 
issued shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 
Its ultimate holding company is VATS Group Limited, a company incorporated in the PRC.

The address of the Company’s registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton 
HM 11, Bermuda.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the principal activities of its 
principal subsidiaries are engaged in the production and distribution of wine and Chinese 
baijiu.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(i) New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the Group

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and revised HKFRSs issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are 
effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 January 2013:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 – 2011 Cycle
HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Government Loans
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and  

HKFRS 12 (Amendments)
Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements 

and Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: 
Transition Guidance

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
HKAS 19 (Revised in 2011) Employee Benefits
HKAS 27 (Revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements
HKAS 28 (Revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
HKAS 36 (Amendments) Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial 

Assets
HK(IFRIC) – Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface 

Mine

Early adoption of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has early adopted HKAS 36 (Amendments) “Recoverable Amount Disclosures 
for Non-Financial Assets”, which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2014.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(i) New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the Group (Continued)

Early adoption of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 36 remove the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount 
of a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which goodwill or other intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives had been allocated when there has been no impairment or reversal 
of impairment of the related CGU. Furthermore, the amendments introduce additional 
disclosure requirements regarding an individual asset (including goodwill) and a CGU for 
which an impairment loss has been recognised or reversed during the reporting period. 
The early adoption of amendments to HKAS 36 removes the requirement to disclose 
the recoverable amounts of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives as there was no 
impairment of these intangible assets as disclosed in note 19.

The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current year has no material impact 
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years.

(ii) New and revised HKFRSs have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial 
year beginning on 1 January 2013

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been 
issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle3

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle2

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments5

HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and 
 HKAS 39 (Amendments)

Hedge Accounting and Amendments to HKFRS 9, 
HKFRS 7 and HKAS 395

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and 
HKAS 27 (Revised in 2011) 
(Amendments)

Investment Entities1

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts4

HKAS 19 (Amendments) Defined Benefits Plans: Employee Contributions2

HKAS 32 (Amendments) Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities1

HKAS 39 (Amendments) Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge 
Accounting1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 21 Levies1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with limited exceptions
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
5 No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for adoption
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(ii) New and revised HKFRSs have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial 
year beginning on 1 January 2013 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 was amended in 2010 to include requirements 
for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

• All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to be subsequently measured at 
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a 
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that 
have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of 
subsequent reporting periods. All other debt investments and equity investments 
are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In 
addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present 
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for 
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally 
recognised in profit or loss.

• With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair 
value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of 
that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition 
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive 
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. 
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the financial 
liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under 
HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial 
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or 
loss.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future 
may have a significant impact on the amounts reported in respect of the Group’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities. Regarding the Group’s financial assets, it is not 
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review has 
been completed.



70
a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(ii) New and revised HKFRSs have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial 
year beginning on 1 January 2013 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 Investment Entities

The amendments to HKFRS 10 define an investment entity and require a reporting entity 
that meets the definition of an investment entity not to consolidate its subsidiaries but 
instead to measure its subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in its financial 
statements.

To qualify as an investment entity, a reporting entity is required to:

• obtain funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing them with 
professional investment management services;

• commit to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for 
returns from capital appreciation, investment income, or both; and

• measure and evaluate performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair 
value basis.

Consequential amendments have been made to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 to introduce 
new disclosure requirements for investment entities.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the investment entities amendments 
will have any effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Company is 
not an investment entity.

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues relating to the offset of 
financial assets and financial liabilities requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify 
the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’ and ‘simultaneous 
realisation and settlement’.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these amendments 
to HKAS 32 will have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements as the Group does not have any financial assets and financial liabilities that 
qualify for offset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(ii) New and revised HKFRSs have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial 
year beginning on 1 January 2013 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge 
Accounting

The amendments to HKAS 39 provide relief from the requirement to discontinue hedge 
accounting when a derivative hedging instrument is novated under certain circumstances. 
The amendments also clarify that any change to the fair value of the derivative hedging 
instrument arising from the novation should be included in the assessment of hedge 
effectiveness.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these amendments 
to HKAS 39 will have any effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the 
Group does not have any derivatives that are subject to novation.

HK (IFRIC) – Int 21 Levies

HK (IFRIC) – Int 21 Levies addresses the issue of when to recognise a liability to pay a 
levy. The Interpretation defines a levy, and specifies that the obligating event that gives 
rise to the liability is the activity that triggers the payment of the levy, as identified by 
legislation. The Interpretation provides guidance on how different levy arrangements 
should be accounted for, in particular, it clarifies that neither economic compulsion nor 
the going concern basis of financial statements preparation implies that an entity has a 
present obligation to pay a levy that will be triggered by operating in a future period.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HK (IFRIC) – Int 21 will 
have no effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Group does not 
have any levy arrangements.

Save as described above, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of 
the new and revised HKFRSs will have no material effect on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all 
applicable HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes all applicable individual 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and accounting principles generally accepted 
in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable 
disclosures required by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and by the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis 
except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of 
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange 
for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group 
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based 
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing 
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have 
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 
2 Inventory or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into 
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements 
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 
Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is 
achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed 
above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power 
over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to 
direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant 
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an 
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion 
of holdings of the other vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or 
does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that 
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ 
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary 
and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and 
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated income statement from the date the Group gains control until the date 
when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners 
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of 
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in 
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any 
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and 
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the 
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous 
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and 
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or 
loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable 
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date 
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent 
accounting under HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an 
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

(d) Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is 
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the 
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are 
recognised at their fair values, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit 
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income 
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of 
the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into 
to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in 
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with 
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are 
measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 
If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed exceed the sum of the consideration transferred, 
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders 
to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be 
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair values or, when applicable, on the basis 
specified in another HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes 
assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent 
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the 
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the 
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted 
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement 
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained 
during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition 
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration 
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent 
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability 
is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the 
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date 
when the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date 
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to 
profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed 
of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the 
reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional 
amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional 
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, and additional assets or liabilities 
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances 
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts 
recognised at that date.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the 
date of acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s CGUs 
(or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more 
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the 
other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset 
in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles are 
passed, at which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods;

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree 
usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow 
to the Group; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured 
reliably.

Rendering of services

Service income is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction 
at the end of the reporting period.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured 
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Subsidy income

Subsidy income, when there is reasonable assurance that the subsidy will be received 
and attaching conditions have been complied with.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group 
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods 
in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are 
intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is 
that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are 
recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the 
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already 
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no 
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become 
receivable.

(h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
identified impairment losses.

The cost of buildings is depreciated using straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives of fifty years or, where shorter, the period of the relevant leases.

Construction in progress including properties in the course of construction for 
production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised 
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing 
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are 
classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed 
and ready for intended use. No depreciation is provided for construction in progress. 
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences 
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other than construction in 
progress) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method, 
at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements 20% or over the period of the relevant lease
Building over the period of the relevant lease
Plant and machinery 10% – 25%
Tools, equipment and moulds 10% – 50%
Furniture and fixtures 10% – 25%
Motor vehicles 10% – 331/3%
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for 
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets 
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified into the following categories: 
loans and receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-
for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way 
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention 
in the marketplace.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt 
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all 
fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those 
financial assets classified as at financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as 
available-for-sale or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity 
investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. They are included 
in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 
months of the reporting date.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked 
to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are measured at 
cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loan and receivables (including trade 
and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables and bank balances and cash) are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term 
receivables where the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial 
assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of 
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the 
estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

For available-for sale equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re- 
organisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are 
assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a 
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could 
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number 
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit period and observable changes in 
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, 
and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial 
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for 
all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in 
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains 
or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit 
or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount 
of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised 
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, impairment losses previously 
recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair 
value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial 
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements 
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are 
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted 
directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, 
issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Bank borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals, other payables and amounts 
due to related parties are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all 
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other than financial liabilities 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent 
of its continuing involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the 
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the 
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.



84
a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety, the Group allocates 
the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to 
recognise, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values 
of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount 
allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration 
received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it 
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. 
A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is 
allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer 
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(j) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value 
is determined on the basis of anticipated sale proceeds less estimated cost to completion 
and selling expenses. Provision is made for inventories when they became obsolete.

Cost is calculated on a weighted average basis which comprises materials, direct labour 
and an appropriate portion of production overheads.

(k) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs 
from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the consolidated income statement because of 
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that 
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than 
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where 
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments 
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be 
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences 
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period. 

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting 
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to 
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which 
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for 
the business combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(l) Land use rights

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Cost represents consideration paid for the rights to use the land on which various 
warehouses, office premises and processing factories are situated. Amortisation of land 
use rights are calculated on a straight-line basis over the period of the land use rights of 
30 to 50 years.

(m) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in 
currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised 
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the 
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date 
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise except for:

• exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under 
construction for future productive use, which are included in the cost of those 
assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign 
currency borrowings;

• exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain 
foreign currency risks; and

• exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign 
operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore 
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised 
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities 
of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the 
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each 
reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates 
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which 
case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences 
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as 
appropriate).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Employee benefits

(i) Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as 
an expense when employees have rendered services entitling them to the 
contributions.

(ii) Share-based compensation

Share-based payment transactions of the Company

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying specified vesting 
conditions, the fair value of services received is determined by reference to the 
fair value of share options granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in share 
options reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number 
of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the 
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative 
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share 
options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the 
share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share 
options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When share options are 
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the 
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to 
retained earnings.

(o) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for 
impairment. A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence 
that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Intangible assets

Farmland development

Farmland development represents deferred expenditures including farmland expenditures 
and cost for preparation works. Farmland development has been capitalised as assets 
where the costs are identifiable and the ability to use the asset will generate probable 
future economic benefits.

Farmland development are amortised over the period in which the related benefits are 
expected to be realised. Farmland development is reviewed annually to determine the 
amount, if any, that is no longer recoverable and any such amount is written off to the 
consolidated income statement in the year of determination.

Trademarks

On initial recognition, trademarks acquired separately and from business combinations 
are recognised at cost and at fair value at the acquisition date respectively. The fair 
value of intangible assets acquired in business combination is determined based on the 
discount cash flow forecast of the projection of profit streams from trademarks held by 
subsidiaries at the date of acquisition. After initial recognition, trademarks are recorded 
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful lives are finite) and 
impairment losses.

Trademarks with definite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. 
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of 
trademarks over their estimated useful lives.

Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are not amortised but are tested for impairment 
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired, by comparing 
their carrying amounts with their recoverable amounts. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

Technical know-how

Technical know-how is recognised only if it is anticipated that the technical know-how 
incurred on a clear-defined project will be recovered through future commercial activity. 
The resultant asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life of 5 years.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
tangible and intangible assets with definite useful lives to determine whether there is 
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU 
to which the asset belongs.When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they are 
allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation 
basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for 
use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that 
the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the 
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior 
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months 
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets 
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

(s) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income 
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.

(t) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to 
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are 
incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required 
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account 
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is 
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is 
material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected 
to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually 
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be 
measured reliably.

(v) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose 
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also 
be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is 
not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of 
obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability is not recognised but is 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a change in the 
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised 
as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
events not wholly within the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised 
but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of 
economics benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent 
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such 
incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised 
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased asset are consumed.

The up-front prepayments made for the land use rights are expensed in the consolidated 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease or where there is 
impairment, the impairment is expensed in the consolidated income statement.

(x) Operating segment

Operating segment is reported in a manner consistent with the internal management 
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-makers. Segment assets consist 
primarily of fixed assets, financial assets and other assets. Segment liabilities comprise 
financial liabilities and other liabilities. The Group evaluates performance on the basis of 
profit or loss from operations after tax expenses and non-controlling interests.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group that is preparing its 
financial statements as follows:

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that 
person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s 
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means 
that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an 
associate or joint venture of a member of a Group of which the other entity 
is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an 
associate of the third party.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees 
of either the Group or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself 
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of 
the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be 
expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the 
entity.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

4.1 Categories of financial instruments

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets
Available-for-sale investment 1,847 1,800
Loan and receivables (including cash and 
 cash equivalents) 196,569 182,084

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 156,765 169,421
   

4.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks such as market risk (including foreign 
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk, which result from both 
its operating and investing activities. The Group does not have written risk management 
policies and guidelines. However, the Board meets periodically to analyse and formulate 
strategies to manage the Group’s exposure to these financial risks. The Group’s exposure 
to market risk is kept to a minimum. The Group has not used any derivatives or other 
instruments for hedging purpose.

There has been no changes to the types of the Group’s exposures in respect of financial 
instruments or the manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

Market risk

(a) Foreign currency risk management

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is exposed to foreign 
currency risk arising from fluctuation in Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign currency risk 
arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and 
net investments in foreign operations.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(a) Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

There is no material foreign exchange risk noted for the Group as:

– the transactions of the Company are mainly denominated in Hong Kong 
dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company, and

– the operations and customers of the Group’s subsidiaries are located in 
the PRC with most of the operating assets and transactions denominated 
and settled in RMB, which is the functional currency of the Group’s 
subsidiaries.

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk management

The Group has exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of 
the prevailing market interest rate on bank borrowings which carry at prevailing 
market interest rates. The Group’s income and operating cash flows are 
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to its variable-rate bank 
borrowings. The Group currently does not use any derivative contracts to hedge 
its exposure to interest rate risk. However, management will consider hedging 
significant interest rate exposure should the need arises.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to 
interest rates of variable rate bank balances and borrowings. For variable-rate 
bank borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability and 
bank balances outstanding at the end of each reporting period was outstanding 
for the whole year.

If interest rates had been increased or decreased by 50 basis point with all other 
variables held constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2013 
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$322,000 (2012: profit would 
decrease/increase by HK$314,000).
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management

The Group has policies in place to ensure that wholesale of products are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. Sales to retail customers are made in cash. 
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the 
Group due to failure to perform an obligation by the counterparties, is the carrying 
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade and bills receivables, the 
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit 
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action 
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount 
of each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate 
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the 
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the majority of the counterparties are 
reputable banks or banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating 
agencies.

Since the Group trades only with customers with an appropriate credit history, there is 
no requirement for collateral. The management monitored the financial background and 
creditability of those debtors on an ongoing basis.

Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit 
risks associated with its financial assets.

Concentration of credit risk

Included in trade and bills receivables of approximately HK$39,450,000 (2012: 
HK$40,130,000) were HK$29,811,000 (2012: HK$12,343,000) due from two related 
parties, which represented approximately 75.6% (2012: 30.8%) of total trade and bills 
receivables at the end of the reporting period.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities as they fall 
due. The Group consistently measures and maintains a prudent financial policy to ensure 
that it maintains sufficient cash to meet its liquidity requirements.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the 
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on undiscounted  
contractual cash flows (including interest payment computed using contractual rates) and 
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Liquidity tables

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest 

rate
Less than 

1 year

Between 
1 and 

5 years
Over 

5 years

Total un-
discounted 
cash flows

Total 
carrying 
amounts

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

At 31 December 2013
Non-derivatives financial liabilities
Trade payables – 49,667 – – 49,667 49,667
Accruals and other payables – 41,364 – – 41,364 41,364
Amount due to a related party – 1,289 – – 1,289 1,289
Bank borrowing 6.06% – 64,682 – 64,682 64,445

       

92,320 64,682 – 157,002 156,765
       

At 31 December 2012
Non-derivatives financial liabilities
Trade payables – 51,913 – – 51,913 51,913
Accruals and other payables – 46,152 – – 46,152 46,152
Amounts due to related parties – 8,561 – – 8,561 8,561
Bank borrowings 6.63% 66,958 – – 66,958 62,795

       

173,584 – – 173,584 169,421
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

4.3 Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of 
financial instruments:

Level 1: Fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: Fair values measured using valuation techniques for which all inputs which 
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either 
directly or indirectly

Level 3: Fair values measured using valuation techniques for which any inputs which 
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs)

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial 
position approximate their fair values and no analysis is disclosed as the Group has no 
financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value at 
the end of the reporting period.

During the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2013, there were no transfers between 
the levels of fair value hierarchy.
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5. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern in order to provide returns for equity holders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from year 2012.

In order to maintain with industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing 
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as 
total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated 
statement of financial position) and total capital is calculated as “equity”, as shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Total borrowings 64,445 62,795
Less: cash and cash equivalents (141,623) (132,877)
   

(77,178) (70,082)
   

Total equity 698,064 762,637
   

Gearing ratio* N/A N/A
   

* As the Group was in net cash position for the current and prior years, no gearing ratio is presented.
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6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, 
management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimated and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year.

(a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has been impairment of goodwill in 
accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 3 (e). The recoverable amounts of 
CGUs are determined based on value-in-use calculation. The value-in-use calculation 
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs 
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash 
flows. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment 
loss may arise.

The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2013 was approximately 
HK$144,449,000 (2012: HK$177,959,000). Details of the impairment test of goodwill 
are set out in note 21.

(b) Impairment of intangible assets

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment particularly in 
assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset value 
may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by 
the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell or net present 
value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset 
in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash 
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are discounted using 
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management in assessing 
impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow 
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in the impairment test 
and as a result affect the Group’s financial position and results of operations. If there 
is a significant adverse change in the projected performance and resulting future cash 
flow projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to the consolidated 
income statement.
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6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c) Impairment of available-for-sale investment

The Group follows the guidance of HKAS 39 when determining whether an investment 
in available-for-sale investment is other than temporarily impaired. In making the 
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which 
the fair value of an investment is less than its cost, and the expected time span the 
Company will hold on this investment.

(d) Impairment of trade receivables

The aged debt profile of trade receivables is reviewed on a regular basis to ensure 
that the trade receivables balances are collectible and follow up actions are promptly 
carried out if the agreed credit periods have been exceeded. However, from time to 
time, the Group may experience delays in collection. Where recoverability of trade 
debtor balances are called into doubts, specific provisions for bad and doubtful 
debts are made based on credit status of the customers, the aged analysis of the trade 
receivable balances and write-off history. Certain receivables may be initially identified 
as collectible, yet subsequently become uncollectible and result in a subsequent write-
off of the related receivable to the consolidated income statement. Changes in the 
collectibility of trade receivables for which provisions are not made could affect our 
results of operations.

(e) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment in order to determine the amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded. 
The useful lives are estimated at the time the asset is acquired based on historical 
experience, the expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical 
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service output of the assets. 
The Group also performs annual reviews on whether the assumptions made on useful 
lives continue to be valid.

(f) Useful lives of intangible assets

Intangible assets, except for those with indefinite lives, are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives 
of the assets regularly in order to determine the amount of amortisation expenses to be 
recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives are based on the Group’s historical 
experience with similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological 
changes. The amortisation expenses for future periods are adjusted prospectively if there 
are significant changes from previous estimates.
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6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(g) Impairment of non-current assets

If a triggering event occurs indicating that the carrying amount of an asset may not 
be recoverable, an assessment of the carrying amount of that asset will be performed. 
Triggering events include significant adverse changes in the market value of an 
asset, changes in the business or regulatory environment, or certain legal events. The 
interpretation of such events requires judgement from management with respect to 
whether such an event has occurred. Upon the occurrence of triggering events, the 
carrying amounts of non-current assets are reviewed to assess whether their recoverable 
amounts have declined below their carrying amounts. The recoverable amount is the 
present value of estimated net future cash flows which the Group expects to generate 
from the future use of the asset, plus the assets residual value on disposal. Where the 
recoverable amount of non-current assets is less than its carrying value, an impairment 
loss is recognised to write the assets down to its recoverable amount.

(h) Write-down of inventories

If the costs of inventories fall below their net realisable values, write-down of inventories 
is recognised. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. The Group bases the estimates on all available information, 
including the current market prices of the finished goods and raw materials, and 
historical operating costs. If the actual selling prices were to be lower or the costs of 
completion and other distribution costs were to be higher than estimated, the write-
down of inventories could be higher than estimated.

(i) Current taxation and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. Significant judgement is 
required in determining the amount of the provision for taxation and the timing of 
payment of the related taxation. There are many transactions and calculations for which 
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses are recognised 
as management considers it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation 
is different from the original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition 
of deferred assets and income tax expenses in the periods in which such estimate is 
changed.
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7. TURNOVER

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Production and distribution of wine 190,628 194,213
Production and distribution of Chinese baijiu 145,935 171,995
   

336,563 366,208
   

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting framework, the Group has identified 
operating segments based on similar products. The operating segments are identified by senior 
management who is designated as “Chief Operating Decision Maker” to make decisions about 
resource allocation to the segments and assess their performance.

The Group has two reportable segments, namely (i) production and distribution of wine and (ii) 
production and distribution of Chinese baijiu. The segmentations are based on the information 
of the operation of the Group that management uses to make decisions.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segments for the 
current and prior years:

Chinese baijiu Wine Total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Segment revenue
Revenue from 

external customers 145,935 171,995 190,628 194,213 336,563 366,208
       

Segment profit (loss) 16,771 55,446 (37,211) (202) (20,440) 55,244
     

Unallocated 
corporate income 851 716

Unallocated 
corporate expenses (15,088) (9,986)

Impairment loss of 
goodwill – – (33,510) – (33,510) –

Finance costs (3,918) (4,277)
       

(Loss) profit before 
taxation (72,105) 41,697

Taxation (7,660) (18,346)
       

(Loss) profit for the 
year (79,765) 23,351
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting 
policies described in note 3. Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments 
with reference to sales generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by those 
segments or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable 
to those segments. Segment results represent the (loss incurred) profit earned by each segment 
without allocation of central administration costs including directors’ emoluments, finance 
costs and taxation. This is the measure reported to the Chief Operating Decision Maker for the 
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable segments for the 
current and prior years:

Chinese baijiu Wine Total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Segment assets 398,984 334,418 609,451 688,220 1,008,435 1,022,638
Unallocated 8,954 22,730
       

1,017,389 1,045,368
       

Segment liabilities 86,137 41,027 142,174 153,347 228,311 194,374
Unallocated 91,014 88,357
       

319,325 282,731
       

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, 
all assets are allocated to reportable segments except for certain financial assets which are 
managed on a group basis. Goodwill is allocated to reportable segment as described in note 
21 below; and all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments except for bank borrowings, 
deferred tax liabilities and other financial liabilities which are managed on a group basis.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

The following is an analysis of the Group’s other segment information for the current and prior 
years:

Chinese baijiu Wine Total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Additions to  
non-current assets 17,000 23,182 13,719 41,603 30,719 64,785

Depreciation of 
property, plant and 
equipment 7,217 6,074 15,966 10,587 23,183 16,661

Amortisation of land 
use rights 596 581 237 231 833 812

Amortisation of 
intangible assets – – 484 477 484 477

Impairment losses 
of trade and other 
receivables 82 942 – 431 82 1,373

Write-down of 
obsolete inventories – – 54,205 – 54,205 –

Impairment loss of 
goodwill – – 33,510 – 33,510 –

       

Information about major customers

Included in revenue of approximately HK$33,832,000 (2012: HK$37,267,000) and 
HK$25,639,000 (2012: HK$36,659,000) arose from sales to the Group’s largest customers 
for the wine segment and Chinese baijiu segment respectively. No other single customer 
contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue for both years 2013 and 2012.

Geographical information

Over 90% of the Group’s turnover and results were derived from the PRC. Accordingly, no 
geographical segment analysis is presented.

As at the end of the reporting period, over 90% of the identifiable assets of the Group were 
located in the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical segment analysis on the carrying amount of 
segment assets or additions to property, plant and equipment is presented.
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9. OTHER REVENUE

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Government grants (note 40) 14,224 16,760
Bank interest income 314 711
Reversal of impairment losses of trade and other receivables 215 749
Service income (note 39) 744 528
Sales of wasted materials 871 177
Sales of grape seedlings 722 –
Others 520 324
   

17,610 19,249
   

10. (LOSS) PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

(Loss) profit from operating activities has been arrived at 
 after charging:

Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments
 – Salaries and allowances 46,619 47,720
 – Retirement benefits scheme contributions 11,022 11,948
   

Total staff costs 57,641 59,668
   

Auditors’ remuneration 1,094 1,114
Amortisation of intangible assets 484 477
Amortisation of land use rights 833 812
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 142,340 143,860
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,757 159
Write-down of obsolete inventories* 54,205 –
Impairment losses of trade and other receivables 82 1,373
Impairment loss of goodwill* (note 21) 33,510 –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 23,183 16,661
Research and development costs 28 21
Minimum lease payments under operating leases:
 Land and building 1,414 1,728
   

* These items are included in “Other operating expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
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11. DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors and chief executive’s emoluments

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the emoluments paid or payable to each of the 
nine (2012: nine) directors and the chief executive were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2013 and 2012:

Fees
Salaries, allowance 
and other benefits 

Performance related 
incentive payments

Retirement benefits 
scheme contributions Total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

           

Wu Xiang Dong – – 1,300 1,300 – – 15 14 1,315 1,314
Yan Tao – – 100 100 – – – – 100 100
Shu Shi Ping Note – – 597 469 – – 3 – 600 469
Sun Jian Xin – – 100 100 – – – – 100 100
Ng Kwong Chue, 
 Paul – – 1,453 1,140 – – 15 14 1,468 1,154
Zhang Jian – – 100 100 – – – – 100 100
Ting Leung Huel, 
 Stephen 310 240 – – – – – – 310 240
E Meng 150 150 – – – – – – 150 150
Cao Kuangyu 150 150 – – – – – – 150 150
           

610 540 3,650 3,209 – – 33 28 4,293 3,777
           

Note: Mr. Shu Shi Ping is a chief executive and executive director of the Company and his emoluments 
disclosed above included those for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors of the Company waived any 
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

None of the directors and the chief executive, or any of the non-director and the non-
chief executive, highest paid employees was paid by the Group as an inducement to join 
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2012: None).
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11. DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, three (2012: four) 
were directors of the Company whose emoluments are set out in note (a) above. For 
the year ended 31 December 2013, the emoluments of the remaining two (2012: one) 
individuals are as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries and other benefits 1,189 247
Retirement benefits scheme contribution 23 12
Performance related incentive payments – –
   

1,212 259
   

The emoluments of the two individuals with the highest emoluments are within the 
following bands:

2013 2012
Number of 
individuals

Number of 
individuals

   

Up to HK$1,000,000 2 1
   

2 1
   

(c) Emoluments of senior management

The emoluments of senior management fell within the following bands:

2013 2012
Number of
individuals

Number of 
individuals

   

Up to HK$1,000,000 7 8
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 2
   

9 10
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12. FINANCE COSTS

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on bank borrowings:
 – wholly repayable within five years 3,857 4,120
Bank charges 61 157
   

3,918 4,277
   

13. TAXATION

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current tax:
The PRC Corporate Income Tax
 – current year 7,575 17,272
 – under-provision in prior year 85 1,074
   

7,660 18,346
   

Hong Kong Profits Tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements 
as the Group and the Company have no assessable profit derived from Hong Kong for both 
years.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had estimated unused tax losses of approximately 
HK$75,497,000 (2012: HK$63,387,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred 
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
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13. TAXATION (Continued)

The PRC Corporate Income Tax

On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary Session of the Tenth National People’s Congress passed 
the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “New Tax Law”) which became effective on 
1 January 2008, when the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC applicable to foreign 
investment enterprises (the “FEIT Law”) was abolished. The New Tax Law adopts a uniform tax 
rate of 25% of all enterprises including foreign investment enterprises.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, Shangri-la Winery Company Limited has 
successfully applied a tax reduction from Yunnan State Administration of Taxation of the PRC 
for 3 years starting from 1 January 2011 and the tax rate applied therefore becomes 15% 
accordingly.

Shangri-la (Qinhuangdao) Winery Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company which 
is a foreign investment enterprise established in the Coastal Open Economics Region of 
Qinhuangdao, the PRC, is subject to corporate income tax rate of 25% and is entitled to full 
exemption from the PRC corporate income tax for two years starting from 1 January 2008 and 
a 50% reduction for the next consecutive three years (the “Tax Exemption Period”) under the 
relevant tax rules applicable to foreign investment enterprise in the PRC. The Tax Exemption 
Period has expired in year 2013.

Pursuant to the transitional arrangements under the New Tax Law, the above-mentioned PRC 
subsidiary will continue to enjoy the tax exemption in the applicable income tax rate until the 
expiry of the tax holiday previously granted under the FEIT Law, and thereafter it will be subject 
to the unified tax rate of 25%.

The tax rate applicable for all other subsidiaries established in the PRC is 25% (2012: 25%).
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13. TAXATION (Continued)

Reconciliation between tax expenses and (loss) profit before taxation at applicable tax rates

A reconciliation of the tax expenses applicable to (loss) profit before taxation at the statutory 
tax rates for the countries in which the Company and majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled 
to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the 
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

The Group – 2013

Hong Kong The PRC Total
HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

       

Loss before taxation (47,740) (24,365) (72,105)
       

Tax at the statutory 
tax rates (7,877) 16.5 (6,091) 25.0 (13,968) 19.4

Tax effect of 
tax losses not 
recognised 1,991 (4.2) 15,181 (62.3) 17,172 (23.9)

Tax effect of income 
not taxable for tax 
purpose (18) 0.1 (9,273) 38.1 (9,291) 12.9

Tax effect of expenses 
not deductible for 
tax purpose 5,904 (12.4) 8,390 (34.5) 14,294 (19.9)

Effect of tax 
exemptions 
granted to the PRC 
subsidiaries – – (632) 2.6 (632) 0.9

Under provision in 
prior year – – 85 (0.3) 85 –

       

Tax charge for the 
year – – 7,660 (31.4) 7,660 (10.6)
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13. TAXATION (Continued)

Reconciliation between tax expenses and (loss) profit before taxation at applicable tax rates 
(Continued)

The Group – 2012

Hong Kong The PRC Total
HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

       

(Loss) profit 
 before taxation (8,622) 50,319 41,697
       

Tax at the statutory 
 tax rates (1,422) 16.5 12,580 25.0 11,158 26.8
Tax effect of tax 
 losses not 
 recognised 1,425 (16.5) 2,287 4.6 3,712 8.5
Tax effect of income 
 not taxable for tax 
 purpose (31) 0.4 (9,413) (18.7) (9,444) (22.7)
Tax effect of expenses 
 not deductible for 
 tax purpose 28 (0.4) 12,856 25.5 12,884 30.9
Effect of tax 
 exemptions 
 granted to the 
 PRC subsidiaries – – (1,038) (2.1) (1,038) (2.1)
Under provision in 
 prior year – – 1,074 2.1 1,074 2.6
       

Tax charge for the 
 year – – 18,346 36.4 18,346 44.0
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14. (LOSS) PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The Group’s consolidated loss for the year of approximately HK$79,765,000 (2012: profit 
of HK$23,351,000) of which net loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year of 
approximately HK$14,209,000 (2012: loss of HK$8,605,000) is dealt with in the financial 
statements of the Company.

15. DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 
2013 (2012: Nil).

16. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share is based on the following data:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

(Loss) profit for the year attributable to the owners of 
 the Company for the purpose of basic and diluted 
 (loss) earnings per ordinary share (81,975) 9,832
   

Number of shares

2013 2012
   

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of 
 basic and diluted (loss) earnings per ordinary share 1,668,532,146 1,668,532,146
   

Diluted (loss) earnings per share were same as the basic (loss) earnings per share as there were 
no potential dilutive ordinary shares in both years.
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17. LAND USE RIGHTS

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid operating lease payments and its 
carrying amount are analysed as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Outside Hong Kong, held on:
 Lease period between 30 to 50 years 29,079 29,147
   

Cost
At 1 January 33,690 32,767
Exchange alignment 885 923
   

At 31 December 34,575 33,690
   

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 4,543 3,629
Exchange alignment 120 102
Charge for the year 833 812
   

At 31 December 5,496 4,543
   

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 29,079 29,147
   

Land use rights comprise cost of acquiring rights to use certain land which are all located in 
the PRC over fixed periods. Cost of land use rights is amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
unexpired period of rights.

Assets pledged as security

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s land use rights with carrying amount of approximately 
HK$441,000 (2012: HK$ 4,631,000) were pledged as security for the Group’s bank borrowings.
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group

Construction 
in progress

Plant and 
building Machinery

Office 
equipment

Furniture 
and fixtures

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Cost
At 1 January 2012 80,937 110,689 89,802 997 1,400 8,445 292,270
Exchange alignment 2,280 3,118 2,529 – 39 238 8,204
Transfer to plant and 
 building and machinery (17,205) 3,353 13,852 – – – –
Additions 49,106 1,796 10,788 2 1,054 2,039 64,785
Elimination upon disposals – (3) (579) – – (394) (976)
        

At 31 December 2012 and 
 1 January 2013 115,118 118,953 116,392 999 2,493 10,328 364,283
Exchange alignment 3,025 3,124 3,057 – 65 271 9,542
Transfer to plant and 
 building and machinery (23,799) 13,879 9,920 – – – –
Additions 25,494 1,212 2,284 39 982 708 30,719
Elimination upon disposals – (2,562) (678) – (385) – (3,625)
        

At 31 December 2013 119,838 134,606 130,975 1,038 3,155 11,307 400,919
        

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2012 – 22,566 31,693 756 920 2,759 58,694
Exchange alignment – 636 892 – 26 78 1,632
Charge for the year – 5,054 9,961 172 228 1,246 16,661
Elimination upon disposals – (3) (436) – – (378) (817)
        

At 31 December 2012 and 
 1 January 2013 – 28,253 42,110 928 1,174 3,705 76,170
Exchange alignment – 742 1,106 – 31 98 1,977
Charge for the year – 5,761 15,509 73 212 1,628 23,183
Elimination upon disposals – (721) (42) – (105) – (868)
        

At 31 December 2013 – 34,035 58,683 1,001 1,312 5,431 100,462
        

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2013 119,838 100,571 72,292 37 1,843 5,876 300,457
        

At 31 December 2012 115,118 90,700 74,282 71 1,319 6,623 288,113
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Company

Office 
equipment

HK$’000
  

Cost
At 1 January 2012 997
Additions 2
  

At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 999
Additions 39
  

At 31 December 2013 1,038
  

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2012 756
Charge for the year 172
  

At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 928
Charge for the year 73
  

At 31 December 2013 1,001
  

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2013 37
  

At 31 December 2012 71
  

Assets pledged as security

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s building with carrying amount of approximately 
HK$28,865,000 and plant and machinery with carrying amount of approximately HK$ 
15,273,000 (2012: building: HK$ 39,863,000, and plant and machinery: HK$3,830,000) were 
pledged as security for the Group’s bank borrowings.

The buildings are located in the PRC with a lease term of 30 to 50 years.
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Farmland 
development

Technical 
know-how Trademarks Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Cost
At 1 January 2012 15,524 1,860 26,095 43,479
Exchange alignment 438 52 735 1,225
     

At 31 December 2012 and 
 1 January 2013 15,962 1,912 26,830 44,704
Exchange alignment 419 50 705 1,174
     

At 31 December 2013 16,381 1,962 27,535 45,878
     

Accumulated amortisation 
 and impairment
At 1 January 2012 5,456 1,860 572 7,888
Exchange alignment 154 52 16 222
Charge for the year 403 – 74 477
     

At 31 December 2012 and 
 1 January 2013 6,013 1,912 662 8,587
Exchange alignment 158 50 17 225
Charge for the year 414 – 70 484
     

At 31 December 2013 6,585 1,962 749 9,296
     

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2013 9,796 – 26,786 36,582
     

At 31 December 2012 9,949 – 26,168 36,117
     

Farmland development represented farmland expenditures and cost for preparation works.

Farmland development, technical know-how and trademarks acquired separately with definite 
useful lives are measured initially at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:

Farmland development 18 years
Technical know-how 5 years
Trademarks 10 years

Amortisation expenses of approximately HK$484,000 (2012: HK$477,000) is included in the 
administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The trademark acquired in the business combination is classified as an intangible asset with 
indefinite useful life. The management of the Group considered that the legal rights of the 
trademark is capable of being renewed indefinitely at insignificant cost and it is expected to 
generate positive cash flows indefinitely. The trademark will not be amortised until its useful 
life is determined to be finite upon reassessment of its useful life annually by the management. 
Instead, they will be tested for impairment and whenever there is an indication that it may be 
impaired.

Impairment test of intangible assets

Trademark with indefinite useful life with carrying amount of approximately HK$26,757,000 
(2012: HK$26,072,000) is allocated to the Group’s CGU of Chinese baijiu business. The 
recoverable amount of the above CGU has been determined based on a value-in-use 
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by 
management covering a five-year period at a pre-tax discount rate of 25.4% per annum (2012: 
26.9% per annum) and with an annual growth rate of 10.0% (2012: 20.0%). The growth rate 
used is based on the estimated growth of the Group’s CGU of Chinese baijiu business taking 
into account the industry growth rate, past experience and the medium or long term growth 
target of Chinese baijiu business. Another key assumption for the value-in-use calculation is 
the budgeted gross margin, which is determined based on the CGU’s past performance and 
management’s expectation for the market development. The directors of the Company believe 
that any reasonably possible further change in the key assumption on which the recoverable 
amount is based would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed its recoverable 
amount.

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Unlisted securities, at cost 1,847 1,800
   

The above unlisted securities represent unlisted equity securities issued by a private entity 
incorporated in the PRC. The investment is stated at cost less impairment at the end of the 
reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the 
directors of the Company are of the opinion that its fair value cannot be measured reliably.
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21. GOODWILL

HK$’000
  

Cost
At 1 January 2012, 31 December 2012, 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013 177,959
  

Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 2012, 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 –
Impairment loss recognised for the year 33,510
  

At 31 December 2013 33,510
  

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2013 144,449
  

At 31 December 2012 177,959
  

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGUs identified according to businesses as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Wine business 96,918 130,428
Chinese baijiu business 47,531 47,531
   

144,449 177,959
   

Impairment test of goodwill

During the year, the management of the Company has reviewed the operation and development 
of the Group’s business in the PRC. Following the PRC government’s policy for cracking 
down on extravagant spending in government departments and stated-owned institutions and 
enterprises, the management of the Company believed that the Group’s expected revenue 
generated from wine business will be affected and the overall market situation of the wine 
business remain challenging. Based on the current year’s assessment, an impairment loss of 
approximately HK$33,510,000 (2012: Nil) was recognised for the goodwill relating to the wine 
business. The assessment was made based on management’s cash flow projections derived from 
the latest expected revenue growth and profitability of the wine business and the PRC economy.

The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs of wine business and Chinese baijiu business 
have been determined based on a value-in-use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period 
at a pre-tax discount rate of 19.4% per annum and 25.4% per annum for wine business 
and Chinese baijiu business respectively (2012: 21.0% per annum and 26.9% per annum 
respectively) and with annual growth rate ranging from 5.0% to 10.0% (2012: 20.0%). The 
growth rates used are based on the estimated growth rate of each unit taking into account the 
industry growth rate, past experience and the medium or long term growth target of each CGU. 
Another key assumption for the value-in-use calculation is the budgeted gross margin, which is 
determined based on the CGU’s past performance and management’s expectation for the market 
development.
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22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Unlisted shares, at cost 240,828 240,828
Amounts due from subsidiaries 152,357 152,422
   

393,185 393,250
   

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and no fixed repayment terms.

General information of subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2013 are set out below:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
registration 
and operation

Registered
paid-up capital

Proportion of equity interest
held by the Company 

and voting power

Principal activitiesDirectly Indirectly

2013 2012 2013 2012
% % % %

        

Shangri-la Winery Company 
Limited (Note i)  
(“Shangri-la Winery”)

The PRC RMB56,560,000 95 95 – – Production and distribution 
of wine and investment 
holding

Shangri-la (Qinhuangdao) 
Winery Company Limited 
(Note i)  
(“Shangri-la (Qinhuangdao)”)

The PRC RMB40,000,000 25 25 71 71 Production of winery 
products

Diqing Shangri-la Economics 
Development Zone Tinlai 
Winery Company Limited

The PRC RMB8,200,000 – – 95 95 Distribution of winery 
products

Yunnan Diqing Shangri-la 
YuQuan Investment Company 
Limited

The PRC RMB10,000,000 – – 66 66 Investment holding
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22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
registration
and operation

Registered
paid-up capital

Proportion of equity interest
held by the Company 

and voting power

Principal activitiesDirectly Indirectly

2013 2012 2013 2012
% % % %

        

Qinhuangdao Shangri-la Grape 
Plantation Company Limited

The PRC RMB2,000,000 – – 96 96 Procurement and 
distribution of grape

Yantai Shangri-la Masang 
Château Company Limited 

The PRC RMB50,000,000 – – 100 100 Production of winery 
products

Diqing Shangri-la Economics 
Development Zone Zimi 
Winery Sales Company 
Limited

The PRC RMB2,000,000 – – 95 95 Distribution of winery 
products

Heilongjiang Province YuQuan 
Winery Company Limited

The PRC RMB4,060,000 – – 66 66 Production of Chinese 
baijiu products

Harbin City Xinlong Winery 
Company Limited

The PRC RMB500,000 – – 66 66 Distribution of Chinese 
baijiu products

Harbin City Longcheng Winery 
Company Limited

The PRC RMB500,000 – – 66 66 Distribution of Chinese 
baijiu products

        

Notes:

i Shangri-la Winery and Shangri-la (Qinhuangdao) were formed as Chinese foreign equity joint venture companies 
in the PRC under joint venture agreements dated 17 May 2005 and 3 June 2005 respectively.

ii None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the year, or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of 
the Company, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other 
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particular of 
excessive length.
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22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests

The directors of the Company made an assessment as at the date of initial application of 
HKFRS 12 and at the end of the reporting period. The total non-controlling interests for the 
year is approximately HK$102,004,000 (2012: HK$98,082,000) of which approximately 
HK$86,412,000 (2012: HK$81,311,000) is for Yunnan Diqing Shangri-la YuQuan Investment 
Company Limited in which the proportion of ownership interests and voting rights held by non-
controlling interests is 34% (2012: 34%). There is no other non-controlling interests individually 
that is material to the Group. 

The summarised financial information of Yunnan Diqing Shangri-la YuQuan Investment 
Company Limited is set out below:

Yunnan Diqing Shangri-la YuQuan Investment Company Limited

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current assets 166,485 103,909
   

Non-current assets 232,497 230,509
   

Current liabilities (188,698) (140,962)
   

Non-current liabilities (19,994) (19,482)
   

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 103,878 92,663
   

Non-controlling interests 86,412 81,311
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22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests (Continued)

The summarised financial information of Yunnan Diqing Shangri-la YuQuan Investment 
Company Limited is set out below: (Continued)

Yunnan Diqing Shangri-la  YuQuan Investment Company Limited (Continued)

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue 147,419 180,239
Expenses (135,823) (139,965)
   

Profit for the year 11,596 40,274
   

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 7,711 26,783
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 3,885 13,492
   

Profit for the year 11,596 40,275
   

Other comprehensive income attributable to owners  
of the Company 2,415 1,965

Other comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling 
interests 1,216 990

   

Other comprehensive income for the year 3,631 2,955
   

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners  
of the Company 10,126 28,748

Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling 
interests 5,101 14,482

   

Total comprehensive income for the year 15,227 43,230
   

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests – –
   

Net cash generated from (used in) operation activities 54,049 (13,308)
   

Net cash generated from (used in) financing activities – –
   

Net cash used in investing activities (17,000) (24,933)
   

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 37,049 (38,241)
   

The information above is the amount before inter-company eliminations.
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23. INVENTORIES

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Raw materials 111,405 100,908
Work in progress 75,440 76,120
Finished goods 113,653 124,202
   

300,498 301,230
Less: Write-down of obsolete inventories (54,205) –
   

246,293 301,230
   

The directors of the Company have assessed the net realisable values and condition of the 
Group’s inventories as at 31 December 2013 and considered a write-down of obsolete 
inventories of approximately HK$54,205,000 (2012: HK$ Nil) be made in the consolidated 
income statement.

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to 
approximately HK$142,340,000 (2012: HK$ 143,860,000).

Included in raw materials of approximately HK$61,134,000 (2012: HK$ 56,668,000) were 
unprocessed wines.
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

The Group generally allows an average credit period ranging from 30 to 90 days (2012: 30 to 
90 days) to its trade customers.

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade and bills receivables 39,707 40,301
Less: Impairment losses recognised for the year (257) (171)
   

39,450 40,130
   

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based 
on the invoice date and net of impairment losses, is as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within 30 days 37,740 39,844
More than 30 days and within 60 days 1,710 266
More than 60 days and within 90 days – –
More than 90 days and within 180 days – –
More than 180 days and within 360 days – 20
   

At 31 December 39,450 40,130
   

Represented by:
Receivables from related parties 29,811 12,343
Receivables from third parties 9,639 27,787
   

39,450 40,130
   

All trade and bills receivables were denominated in RMB.

The movements in impairment losses of trade and bills receivables were as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At 1 January 171 206
Exchange alignment 6 6
Impairment losses recognised 82 171
Reversal of impairment losses (2) (212)
   

At 31 December 257 171
   

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are not considered to be impaired is as 
follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Neither past due nor impaired 39,450 40,110
One to six months past due – 20
Six months to one year past due – –
   

39,450 40,130
   

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to customers for whom there was 
no recent history of default. 

At 31 December 2012, receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number 
of independent customers that have a good track record with the Group. Based on past 
experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no impairment is necessary in 
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or other 
credit enhancements over these balances.

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS PAID AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Prepayments 62,113 28,918 737 575
Deposits paid 1,574 1,546 387 390
Other receivables 27,641 21,109 – –
     

91,328 51,573 1,124 965
Less: Impairment losses of 
 other receivables (13,719) (13,578) – –
     

77,609 37,995 1,124 965
     

Represented by:
Amounts due from related 
 parties 4,258 – – –
Amount due from third 
 parties 73,351 37,995 1,124 965
     

77,609 37,995 1,124 965
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS PAID AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Included in the Group’s “Prepayments” under current assets as at 31 December 2013 
were prepayments for procurement of raw materials and advertising expenses, amounted 
to approximately HK$21,406,000 (2012: HK$ 11,581,000) and HK$25,528,000 (2012: 
HK$2,435,000) respectively, which were paid to the third parties of the Group.

The movements in impairment losses of other receivables were as follows:

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 January 13,578 12,559 – –
Exchange alignment 354 354 – –
Impairment losses 
 recognised – 1,202 – –
Reversal of 
 impairment losses (213) (537) – –
     

At 31 December 13,719 13,578 – –
     

Included in the impairment losses above with an aggregate balance of approximately 
HK$13,719,000 (2012: HK$ 13,578,000) were individual impaired other receivables. The 
individually impaired other receivables related to other debtors that were past due over one 
year or in default of payments and management assessed that these receivables are generally 
not recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The carrying amounts of the remaining other receivables that were neither past due nor 
impaired relate to other debtors for whom there were no recent history of default.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Time deposits and 
 banks balances and cash 141,623 132,877 7,351 21,213
     

At the end of reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in 
RMB amounted to approximately HK$132,800,000 (2012: HK$ 111,185,000). The RMB 
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under the PRC Foreign Exchange 
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange 
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks 
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank 
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

The time deposits carry interest at prevailing market deposit rates and mature within 1 month 
(2012: 3 months). The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Par value

2013 2012 2013 2012
’000 ’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Authorised
 Ordinary shares of 
  HK$0.01 each 16,000,000 16,000,000 160,000 160,000
     

Issued and fully paid
 At the beginning of 
  the year 1,668,532 1,668,532 16,685 16,685
     

 At the end of the year 1,668,532 1,668,532 16,685 16,685
     

28. RESERVES

(a) The Group

Movement of the Group’s reserves for the current and prior years are presented in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 64 to 65 of the consolidated 
financial statements.

(b) The Company

Share 
premium

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 January 2012 409,918 (5,182) 404,736
Loss for the year – (8,605) (8,605)
    

At 31 December 2012 and 
 1 January 2013 409,918 (13,787) 396,131
Loss for the year – (14,209) (14,209)
    

At 31 December 2013 409,918 (27,996) 381,922
    

The Company did not have any distributable reserves for both years.
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29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The deferred tax liabilities of the Group recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position and the movements during the year are as follows:

HK$’000
  

Deferred tax arising from revaluation of assets as follows:
At 1 January 2012 21,509
Exchange alignment 627
  

At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 22,136
Exchange alignment 600
  

At 31 December 2013 22,736
  

The deferred tax liabilities of the Group recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position was attributable from revaluation of land and buildings and intangible assets upon 
acquisition of subsidiaries in 2005 and 2008 respectively.

Under the New Tax Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits 
earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been 
provided in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC 
subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

30. TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 
invoice date is as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within 90 days 36,730 34,497
More than 90 days and within 180 days 3,394 7,558
More than 180 days and within 360 days 9,543 9,858
   

49,667 51,913
   

Trade payables are non interest-bearing and have an average credit term of three months.
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31. ACCRUALS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Accruals 12,593 11,617 3,071 2,664
Deposits received 133,363 80,433 – –
Other payables 28,771 34,535 19 19
     

174,727 126,585 3,090 2,683
     

The carrying amounts of accruals, deposits received and other payables at the end of each 
reporting period approximate to their fair values due to their short-term maturity.

32. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

The amounts are non-trade related, unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

33. BANK BORROWINGS

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Bank borrowings comprised of:
 Bank loans – secured 64,445 62,795
   

64,445 62,795
   

The borrowings are repayable as follows:
 Within one year or on demand – 62,795
 More than one year, but not exceeding two years 64,445 –
   

Total bank borrowings 64,445 62,795
   

Bank borrowings were secured by the following:

(i) the Group’s buildings, plant and machinery and land use rights with carrying amounts 
of HK$28,865,000 (2012: HK$39,863,000), HK$15,273,000 (2012: HK$ 3,830,000) and 
HK$ 441,000 (2012: HK$ 4,631,000) respectively;

(ii) personal guarantee from a director of the Company; and

(iii) the bank borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2012 were also secured by the  
corporate guarantee from VATS Group Limited, an ultimate holding company of the 
Company.

The Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB only.

The above bank borrowings are carried at variable (2012: fixed) interest rate with maturity 
period not exceeding two years (2012: one year). The effective interest rate on bank borrowings 
is 6.06% (2012: 6.63%) per annum.
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34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group pledged the following assets to secure the 
banking facilities granted to the Group:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Land use rights (Note 17) 441 4,631
Buildings (Note 18) 28,865 39,863
Plant and machinery (Note 18) 15,273 3,830
   

44,579 48,324
   

35. OPERATING LEASES COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease 
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall due 
as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 7,734 7,823
In the second to fifth year inclusive 9,967 9,869
Over five years 52,476 50,706
   

70,177 68,398
   

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office 
properties, warehouse and farmland. The average lease term of office properties and warehouse 
is 1 to 2 years, and that of farmland is 20 to 50 years. Rentals are fixed and no arrangement has 
been entered into for contingent rental payments.

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Authorised and contracted for:
 In connection with the construction of winery warehouses 
  and factories 49,212 54,443
 In connection with acquisition of plant and equipment 6,010 5,957
   

55,222 60,400
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37. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Retirement Benefits Scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement scheme (the “Defined Contribution 
Scheme”) for certain qualifying employees. The assets of the Defined Contribution Scheme are 
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The retirement benefits cost of the Defined Contribution Scheme charged to the consolidated 
income statement represents contributions payable to the fund by the Group at rates specified 
in the rules of the scheme. Where there are employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting 
fully in the contribution, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the amount of 
forfeited contributions.

At the end of the reporting period, there was no significant forfeited contribution which arose 
upon employees leaving the Defined Contribution Scheme and which was available to reduce 
the contributions payable in future years.

With effective from 1 December 2001, the Group has jointed a mandatory provident fund 
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all other qualifying employees. The MPF Scheme is registered 
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund 
Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group 
in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the 
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at rates 
specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to 
make the required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to 
reduce the contributions payable in future years.

The retirement benefits cost of the MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated income statement 
represents contributions payable to the fund by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the 
scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed 
retirement benefit scheme organised by the relevant local government authority in the PRC. 
These subsidiaries are required to contribute, based on a certain percentage of the basis salary 
of its employees, to the retirement benefit scheme and has no further obligations for the actual 
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state-
managed retirement benefit scheme represent for the entire pension obligations payable to 
retired employees.
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 16 September 2002, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) 
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to its directors and eligible employees. Unless 
otherwise terminated, the 2002 Scheme would remain valid and effective until 15 September 
2012. At the special general meeting held on 23 August 2012, the Company adopted a new 
share option scheme (the “2012 Scheme”) and the 2002 Scheme was terminated on the same 
date.

Under the terms of the 2012 Scheme, the Board is entitled to grant options to selected eligible 
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the 
Group or any invested entity.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted 
under the 2012 Scheme and any other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the 
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of adoption of the 2012 Scheme. The 
total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to each eligible participant 
(including exercised and outstanding options) in any twelve-month period shall not exceed 1% 
of the number of shares in issue unless shareholders’ approval is obtained in general meeting.

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days from the date of grant with payment of 
HK$1 per grant. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant up to the 10th 
anniversary of the date of grant. In each grant of options, the Board may at their discretion 
determine the specific exercise period. The exercise price is determined by the Board, and will 
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; 
(ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

No option has been granted under the 2002 Scheme or the 2012 Scheme since their respective 
adoption dates.
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group has 
entered into the following significant related party transactions, which in the opinion 
of the directors of the Company, were conducted under commercial terms and in the 
normal course of the Group’s business.

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Sales of goods
Yunnan Jinliufu Trading Limited (“Yunnan JLF Trading”) 33,832 37,267
VATS Chain Liquor Store Management Company
 Limited (“VATS Chain Store”) 6,748 31,756
   

Purchases of goods
Yunnan Jinliufu Liancai Trading Company Limited 
 (“Jinliufu Liancai”) 3,389 7,454
   

Rendering of services
VATS Fine Wines & Spirits (H.K.) Company Limited 744 528
   

The above companies are related parties of the Group as Mr. Wu Xiang Dong, being an 
executive director of the Company, is a substantial shareholder of all companies.

Sales and purchases transactions were carried out at cost plus mark-up basis.

Notes:

1. Included in the sales of goods to Yunnan JLF Trading and VATS Chain Store for the year ended 31 
December 2013, approximately HK$33,832,000 and HK$6,748,000 respectively were carried out under 
the revised master sales agreements dated 6 July 2012 and which entered into with each of Yunnan JLF 
Trading and VATS Chain Store respectively. Details of the transactions were set out under the paragraph 
of “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Directors’ Report.

2. Included in the purchases of goods from Jinliufu Liancai for the year ended 31 December 2013, 
approximately HK$3,389,000 was carried out under the revised master purchase agreement dated 6 July 
2012 and which entered into between the Group and Jinliufu Liancai. Details of the transactions were set 
out under the paragraph of “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Directors’ Report.
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to the directors 
of the Company and certain of the highest paid employees, as disclosed in note 11, is as 
follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries 3,650 3,209
Short-term benefit 643 568
   

4,293 3,777
   

40. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

During the year, the Group received government grants of approximately HK$14,224,000 (2012: 
HK$16,760,000) for the contribution towards the business in Yunnan, Qinhuangdao, Yantai and 
Yuquan, the PRC. The amount has been included in other revenue for the year.

41. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Group had no major non-cash transactions of investing and financing activities during the 
years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events took place subsequent to 31 December 2013.

43. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures of prior year have been re-presented to conform with the current 
year’s presentation.

44. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 
24 March 2014.
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RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Turnover 259,650 337,133 400,272 366,208 336,563
      

Profit (loss) from operating
 activities 50,662 66,731 84,123 45,974 (68,187)
Finance costs (4,694) (4,522) (4,833) (4,277) (3,918)
      

Profit (loss) before taxation 45,968 62,209 79,290 41,697 (72,105)
Taxation (10,707) (16,621) (21,449) (18,346) (7,660)
      

Profit (loss) for the year 35,261 45,588 57,841 23,351 (79,765)
      

Attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 29,500 38,314 45,585 9,832 (81,975)
 Non-controlling interests 5,761 7,274 12,256 13,519 2,210
      

Profit (loss) for the year 35,261 45,588 57,841 23,351 (79,765)
      

Dividend – 16,685 – – –
      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At 31 December
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Total assets 640,621 890,559 978,475 1,045,368 1,017,389
Total liabilities (191,770) (223,586) (253,289) (282,731) (319,325)
Non-controlling interests (59,832) (69,327) (83,116) (98,082) (102,004)
      

Shareholders’ funds 389,019 597,646 642,070 664,555 596,060
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